
Democratic Services Contact Officer: 03450 450 500 Democratic.Services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

19 September 2019 

 

To: Chairman – Councillor Jose Hales 
 Vice-Chairman – Councillor Clare Delderfield 
 All Members of the Grants Advisory Committee - Councillors Dr. Claire Daunton, 

Sue Ellington and Peter McDonald 
Quorum: 3 
 
Substitutes: Councillors Bunty Waters, Dr. Shrobona Bhattacharya, Mark Howell, 

Heather Williams, Peter Topping, Bill Handley, Dr. Martin Cahn and 
Sarah Cheung Johnson 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of GRANTS ADVISORY COMMITTEE, which will be 
held in the  at South Cambridgeshire Hall on FRIDAY, 27 SEPTEMBER 2019 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, subcommittees, and 
outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of the substitution in advance of 
the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute once the meeting has started.  Council 
Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
Mike Hill 
Interim Chief Executive 
 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the 
community, access to its agendas and minutes.  We try to take all 
circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, 

please let us know, and we will do what we can to help you. 
 

 
AGENDA 

 PAGES 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  1 - 2 
 To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the meeting held 

on 30 August 2019 as a correct record. 
 

   
4. Review of the Mobile Warden Scheme - Lesley McFarlane  3 - 20 
 
5. Community Chest: Funding Applications  21 - 30 
 
6. Grants Report for 2018/19  31 - 104 

 

 

South Cambridgeshire Hall 

Cambourne Business Park 

Cambourne 

Cambridge 

CB23 6EA 

t: 03450 450 500 

f: 01954 713149 

www.scambs.gov.uk 



 
7. Date of next meeting   
 

 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 



 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices 

 
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 

When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 

In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

 Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 

emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

 Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 

do so. 
 
First Aid 

If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 

We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 

Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 

We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 

You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 

Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 

Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 

   

 

mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk


  
 

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without members of the Press and 
public being present.  Typically, such issues relate to personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege 
and so on.  In every case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must outweigh 
the public interest in having the information disclosed to them.  The following statement will be proposed, seconded 
and voted upon.   
 
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following item 
number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if 
present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.” 
 
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press and public will not be able to 
view it.  There will be an explanation on the website however as to why the information is exempt.   

Notes 
 
(1) Some development control matters in this Agenda where the periods of consultation and representation 

may not have quite expired are reported to Committee to save time in the decision making process. 
Decisions on these applications will only be made at the end of the consultation periods after taking into 
account all material representations made within the full consultation period. The final decisions may be 
delegated to the Corporate Manager (Planning and Sustainable Communities). 

 

(2) The Council considers every planning application on its merits and in the context of national, regional and 
local planning policy. As part of the Council's customer service standards, Councillors and officers aim to 
put customers first, deliver outstanding service and provide easy access to services and information. At all 
times, we will treat customers with respect and will be polite, patient and honest. The Council is also 
committed to treat everyone fairly and justly, and to promote equality. This applies to all residents and 
customers, planning applicants and those people against whom the Council is taking, or proposing to take, 
planning enforcement action.  More details can be found on the Council's website under 'Council and 
Democracy'. 



 

 

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Grants Advisory Committee held on 
Friday, 30 August 2019 at 10.00 a.m. 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Jose Hales – Chairman 
  Councillor Clare Delderfield – Vice-Chairman 
 
Councillors: Sue Ellington Peter McDonald 
 
Officers in attendance for all or part of the meeting: 
 Gemma Barron (Head of Sustainable Communities and Wellbeing), Ellen Bridges 

(Project Officer - Sustainable Communities and Partnerships) and Ian Senior 
(Democratic Services Officer) 

 
 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 Councillor Dr. Claire Daunton sent Apologies for Absence. 
  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 Councillor Jose Hales declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in the grant application 

from the Melbourn Mobile Warden Scheme because his wife is the Scheme’s Manager 
and he himself is a trustee. 

  
3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The Grants Advisory Committee authorised the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the 

Minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2019. 
  
4. COMMUNITY CHEST: FUNDING APPLICATIONS 
 
 The Grants Advisory Committee considered a report on new applications received 

between 1 July 2019 and 31 July 2019. 
 
Having declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in Melbourn Mobile Warden Scheme 
because his wife was the Scheme’s Manager and he himself was a trustee, Councillor 
Jose Hales outlined in general terms the nature and aim of the project being undertaken 
by the Melbourn Mobile Warden Scheme, and then left the room.  
 
Councillor Clare Delderfield took the Chair for the consideration of the application from the 
Melbourn Mobile Warden Scheme. Those present acknowledged the social value of the 
project but emphasised the importance of making sure that the request was not for on-
going running costs. They discussed the extent of the grant application and established 
the breakdown of costs as including catering, a raffle, printing, venue and community 
transport.  
 
Councillor Jose Hales retook the Chair for the remainder of the meeting. 
 
Regarding the application from Duxford Pre-School, Councillor Peter McDonald (the 
Member for Duxford) confirmed that the sum of £500 had already been raised and that the 
application for £1,000 was to complete the total one-off project cost. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Grants Advisory Committee Friday, 30 August 2019 

 

The Grants Advisory Committee noted that the Northstowe Social Committee had 
withdrawn its application in respect of the printing and delivery of Northstowe News 
because the total cost of the project had now been met from other sources. 
 
Regarding Sustainable Cottenham, Members asked officers to establish the proportion of 
the sum applied for that was intended to pay for the necessary enquiries of the Disclosure 
and Barring Service (DBS). Such checks for voluntary groups were free of charge. 
Members asked officers to reallocate those funds if appropriate. 
 
The Grants Advisory Committee made the following recommendations to the Lead 
Cabinet Member for Finance: 
 

Applicant Village(s) 
affected 

Description Total 
applied for 

(£) 

Total 
recomm 

ended (£) 

Additional 
conditions/ 
comments 

 
Melbourn 
Mobile 
Warden 
Scheme 

 
Melbourn, 
Meldreth 
and 
Shepreth 
 

 
Catering of 
50 meals at 
the next 
Celebrating 
Ages Event 
 

 
835.50 

 
835.50 
 

 
 
 

 
Duxford 
Preschool 

 
Preschool 
 

 
Duxford and 
the 
surrounding 
villages 

 
1000.00 
 

 
1000.00 
 

 
 

 
Northstowe 
Social 
Committee 

 
Social 
Committee 
 

 
Northstowe 

 
1000.00 

 
Nil 
 

 
Application 
withdrawn 
(received 
funding 
elsewhere) 
 

 
Sustainable 
Cottenham 

 
Volunteer 
Group 
 

 
Cottenham 

 
610.00 
 

 
610.00 
 

 
 

 

  
5. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
 The next scheduled Grants Advisory Committee meeting would be on Friday 27 

September 2019 starting at 10.00am 
  

  
The Meeting ended at 10.20 a.m. 

 

 

Page 2



 
 
  

REPORT TO: 
 

Grants Advisory Committee 27/09/2019 

LEAD CABINET MEMBER: 
 

Cllr John Williams 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

Lesley McFarlane / Gemma Barron  

 

 
 

District-wide coverage of Mobile Warden Schemes 
 

Executive Summary 
 
1. There have been Mobile Warden Schemes within some parishes of South 

Cambridgeshire for over 20 years.  The schemes have historically been community led 
and this has resulted in inequitable cover across the district with large geographical areas 
including some of our most isolated parishes, or parishes with greater numbers of older 
people, without a scheme.   

2. The schemes serve a number of purposes, namely they enable older people to remain 
living at home independently for longer; avoid earlier transfer into care; avoid 
unnecessary hospital admission; enable more expedient hospital discharge and provide 
daily contact to people who would otherwise live in isolation and/or away from their 
families. 

3. Enabling older and / or vulnerable people to have greater access to a local scheme is a 
key priority of the Council’s Business Plan 2019-2024.  This is aligned to the predicted 
high growth in the over 65 year old population over the next 20 years and in recognition 
that with age comes increased risk of deteriorating health, loneliness and feelings of 
isolation.   

 
 
4. This will likely be a key decision for cabinet should additional unbudgeted finance be 

required. 

Recommendations 
 
5. It is recommended that the Grants Advisory Committee considers the options for district-

wide cover of Mobile Warden Schemes in order to provide more equitable cover across 
the District and recommends to Cabinet the most appropriate option. 

 

Reasons for Recommendations 
   
6. According to Age UK, isolation and loneliness is more prevalent in people who are aged 

65+, living alone, and/or have a chronic health condition.  Feeling lonely and isolated can 
be very harmful to health.  Research shows that lacking social connections is as 
damaging to our health as smoking 15 cigarettes a day (Holt-Lunstad, 2015).    Academic 
research is clear that preventing and alleviating loneliness is vital to enabling older 
people to remain as independent for as long as possible.  

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 
 
7. Life expectancy in South Cambridgeshire is higher than the national and county 

averages, however, we now live in a society that is living longer, but with fewer years of 
life lived healthily. 

 
8. The older population across South Cambridgeshire is set to rise over the period 2017-

2035 by 49%.  Over the same period the over 90’s will increase by 137%. 
 
9. According to the most recent health data released by the Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment for South Cambridgeshire 2019 the following conditions are set to increase 
as follows: 

a. Moderate physical disability: 19.4% 
b. Serious physical disability: 20.6% 
c. Mod/Serious personal care disability: 19.8% 
d. Common mental disorder: 17.8% 
e. A fall: 65.4% 
f. Dementia: 93.4% 
 

10. These will create demand for specialist housing as well as health and social care 
services.     

 
11. An increasingly socially mobile society together with the high cost of housing in South 

Cambridgeshire is leading to fewer families remaining in the villages in which they grew 
up leading to greater dislocation of families and leaving older people more exposed to 
loneliness and distant family connections. 

 

Details 
  
12. There are 14 schemes covering a total of 31 parishes (see map at appendix D).   

Many of the community led schemes have been in existence for over 20 years, 
developed in recognition that there was a need to provide a service to support and take 
care of older, more vulnerable members.    

 
13. The schemes employ a range of approaches in order to support their clients including 

home visits and telephone calls; thus also creating opportunities within their communities 
for local volunteering.    This creates a vital service for people to:  

a) Know someone cares  
b) Keep in touch with the outside world,  
c) Receive medication, newspapers and food and  
d) Remain living independently for as long as possible where they may 

otherwise be transferred into care or hospital. 
e) Expedite hospital discharge    

 
14. The schemes are available long-term, or on a short term basis following illness or 

hospital discharge to help get people back on their feet who are thereafter able to live 
independently at home, but who otherwise might not regain their health and 
independence. 
 
 
 

Page 4



 
Linking with other services 
15. The wardens link with other services and provide a signposting role to the client, opening 

doors and opportunities to access other services which help to support them to live 
independently, this includes helping clients apply for additional finance if eligible for 
example pension credit and disability living allowance or housing benefits.  Some 
schemes also have good relationships with the GP practice and can liaise with practice 
staff if a client is poorly; responding to letters to ensure bills are paid or appointments are 
not missed.  The main aim of the service however, is to check-in with vulnerable people 
to make sure they’re well, to have a chat and show they care with people who may not 
otherwise have any human contact on a day to day basis. 

 
Referrals  
16. Referrals come from a range of sources:   Many self refer following word of mouth, other 

schemes receive referrals from the police, the voluntary sector (e.g. Care Network), GP 
surgery, parish newsletters and ministers.  A number of the schemes would like closer 
ties with the local GPs and practice nurses and believe that this relationship has become 
more distant over time, given the many changes to how primary care services have been 
delivered over the duration of some of the schemes.  However, this presents an 
opportunity for the service to be part of the wider community health and social care 
offering. 

 
Self employed/parish employed warden salaries 
17. All schemes employ wardens on a part-time basis with circa 20 hour/week contracts, and 

each warden will look after approximately 10-20 clients in their patch.  There is no set 
warden salary, each scheme sets its own budget for salaries.   The wardens are also 
supported by volunteers to provide holiday cover and any periods of sickness absence.  
At Harston for example, this cover is provided by the Board of Trustees. 

 
Client Fees 
18. Every scheme has a different client fee, the scale ranges from £5 per week up to £12 per 

week.  The majority of schemes charge fees of approximately £6-7/week.   To improve 
sustainability the Council recommended to schemes that a minimum fee should be set at 
£6.50/week. 

 
Ongoing training and support for Wardens 
19. Due to the nature of the role of mobile warden, many in this post work in isolation.   

Speaking to the schemes, there was genuine interest from wardens to link with each 
other for peer support.  Due to the changing nature of the health and social care system, 
some felt they would benefit from ongoing support and training in their roles together with 
more formal ongoing training in safeguarding, deprivation of liberty and first aid. It was 
proposed that the council create a forum which provides opportunities for wardens to 
meet, share information, peer support and create opportunities for ongoing learning and 
professional development. 

 
Growing existing schemes 
20. Each of the community led schemes (with the exception of Melbourn) had no interest in 

extending their scheme beyond the parish boundary but has indicated they are more than 
happy to support other schemes to set up. 

 
Sustainability of Existing Schemes 
21. All schemes rely on external funding to sustain them.  The schemes want to keep the 

client fees as affordable as possible and are reluctant to increase fees on this basis. 

Page 5



 
 
22. Earlier this year, parishes without an existing scheme were contacted to gauge interest in 

setting up a scheme.   16 parishes responded with a request for further information. (See 
appendix B). 

 
 
Working in closer collaboration with health partners 
23. Some wardens report missed opportunities to work more collaboratively with GP 

practices.  Opportunities to support residents who needed extra support following illness, 
or discharge from hospital were welcomed. 
 
 

Existing Schemes 
24. Of the 14 existing schemes, 7 are run by Age UK on behalf of the parish with investment 

from the Parish, District and County Councils (see table 2 below).  The other 7 are 
community schemes set up and managed by a board of trustees (with the exception of 
Milton, which is run by the Parish Council).  They bring in funding from various sources,  
and are supported by such organisations as Care Network with training and guidance. 
(see table 1 below).  
 

25. This disparate, largely community led model has resulted in inconsistent cover across the 
district which creates inequalities and inequity in service and a priority for the Council is 
to provide greater coverage across the District to address this. 

 
26. The challenge for the District Council is to encourage Parish Councils to set up a 

scheme, be it independently or through the Age UK model.  Both require investment from 
the parish. 

 
 
Table 1 : Funding for Community-led Schemes 2019/2020 
This table illustrates how the community led schemes are currently funded.  Each model 
differs in how it seeks funding, administers its scheme and pays its employees.  Income from 
service users is included in blue, where known. 
 

Village 
Max people 
benefitting last 
year 

Funding 
Sources 2019/20 

Funding Sum 
2019/20 (£) 

Cottenham 22 SCDC 1,800.00 

    Parish Council 1,150.00 

    CCF (Not confirmed) 2,499.00 

    Rotary (TBA) 0.00 

    Subtotal 5,449.00 

    Service users 4,000.00 

    Total 9,949.00 

        

Harston 15 SCDC 1,250.00 

    Parish Council 2,750.00 

    Covenated Gifts 2,000.00 

    HMRC Gift Aid 1,000.00 

Page 6



 

    Subtotal 7,000.00 

    Service Users 4,200.00 

    Total 11,200.00 

        

    SCDC 250.00 

Haslingfield 20 Parish Council 3,000.00 

    Subtotal 3,250.00 

    Service Users  7,802.00 

    Total 11,052.00 

        

Melbourn 47 SCDC 2,200.00 

    CCC 7,721.00 

    Melbourne PC 6,500.00 

    Meldreth PC 1,500.00 

    Shepreth PC 600.00 

    Subtotal 18,521.00 

    Service users 11,626.00 

    Total 30,147.00 

        

Milton 20 SCDC 2,155.00 

    Milton PC  16,385.00 

    Milton Charities 2,000.00 

    Subtotal 20,540.00 

    Service Users  7,000.00 

    Total 27,540.00 

        

 The Mordens & 
Litlington MWS 

 25 SCDC 2,155.00 

  
3 x Parish 
Councils 

1,800.00 

    Grants other 300.00 

  Other 160.00 

    Subtotal 4,415.00 

    Service users 5,895.00 

    Total 10,310.00 

        

Great Shelford 36 SCDC 1,000.00 

  
Great Shelford 
PC 

2,500.00 

    Shelford Feast 1,000.00 

    Subtotal 4,500.00 

    Service users  4794.00 

Page 7



 
 

    Total 9,294.00 

        

    
Total excl 
Service User 
Fees 

63,675.00 

  GRAND TOTAL 109,942.00 

 
 
 
Table 2: Age UK Schemes  

Village 
Max no people 
benefitting last 
year 

Funding sources 2019/20 
Funding sum 
2019/20 (£) 

The Small 
Villages 
Scheme:  

Weston Colville, 
West Wratting, 

Balsham, 
Linton, West 

Wickham, 
Horseheath, 

Shudy Camps 
and Castle 

Camps. 
Individual 

parish schemes 
in Swavesey, 
Histon, Girton, 

Impington, 
Waterbeach, 
Teversham, 
Stapleford 

129 across all 
schemes 

SCDC 13,200.00 

CCC 12,132.00 

Parishes 18,975.00 

Donations 3,500.00 

Subtotal 47,807.00 

Service User Income 23,671.00 

TOTAL 71,478.00 

 
 
Parishes without schemes 
27. There are 71 parishes without a Mobile Warden Scheme.   To provide complete cover 

across the District would require setting up additional schemes.    
 

In order to assess the cost to the District of expanding coverage, officers have 
identified a number of priority “strategic locations” or parishes.  The following parishes 
have been identified as strategic:  

 Papworth / Elsworth 

 Sawston 

 Thriplow 

 Gamlingay 

 Willingham 

 Whittlesford 

 6 villages along the A428 / A1198 corridor (Hardwick, Caldecote, Comberton, 
Wimpole, Bourn, Toft) 
 

Page 8



 
28. These parishes are identified as strategic because: 
 

a. They are geographically rural areas with no existing cover (A428/A1198 corridor) 
b. They are Parishes with a higher population of older residents according to the 

local CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group) profiles and data from the 
Cambridgeshire Insight, Parish Profiles tool. 

 
29. Age UK has provided an estimate (appendix A) for setting up schemes in the strategic 

parishes above.  If prioritised, these parishes could be part 1 of a staged approach to the 
District’s approach to improving coverage of mobile warden schemes across the district.  
Part 2 of a staged approach might include the remaining parishes at point 22 above who 
expressed an interest in knowing more, (16 additional parishes).   This would lead to a 
further 43 parishes still requiring cover, the cost of which is still being established. 

 

Options 
 
There are a number of different options for how to proceed with improving Mobile Warden 
Scheme coverage across the District of South Cambridgeshire, which could all be 
implemented in 2 phases.  These options are as follows: 
 
 
30. Option 1 
 

Create a separate grant fund, distinct from the existing Mobile Warden Scheme grant 
fund, dedicated to setting up new or expanded schemes only.  This would be open to 
parishes, community groups and established charitable organisations for the creation of 
new schemes and the expansion of existing schemes.   This would provide choice to the 
Parishes in which approach to take e.g. bring in an external provider or encourage a 
community-led scheme. 
 
Members are asked to consider whether such a grant fund would fully fund new and 
expanded schemes or make a contribution to running costs (as per the existing Mobile 
Warden Scheme grant fund).   
 

 
31. Option 2 
 

Provide full funding for e.g. the first two years for new schemes, with prior agreement that 
Parishes will then apply for grant funding in the normal way in subsequent years.    
 

 
32. Option 3:   
 

In order to introduce schemes into the 71 parishes without a scheme, the fastest 
approach would be to fully fund an external provider to give full and continuous cover.   
The cost of this option is still being calculated.  
 

33. All options 1-3 could be achieved by implementing a phased approach.  Members are 
asked to consider the following: 

Page 9



 
a. Phase 1: prioritise those strategic parishes outlined in point 27 above as well as 

the parishes that have come forward showing an interest (appendix B).  There is  
some overlap between these groups.  This first phase in options 2 and 3 would 
require an annual budget of circa  £200,000 in the first two years where schemes 
would be fully funded.   
In option 2 from year 3 onwards phase 1 would require an increase of circa 
£28,000 per annum in the grant funding available to Mobile Warden Schemes.  
(This is based on the average grant funding award to existing schemes multiplied  
by the parishes identified as strategic and showing interest n=28 ).   Such an 
increase would need to be introduced in such a way as to only be available to 
those new schemes set up as part of this initiative and would not be available to 
schemes in existence now.  In option 3, from year 3 onwards the figures are still 
being calculated.    

b. Phase 2: run a second round of grant funding or look to procure an external 
provider to deliver a warden service in the remaining 43 parishes, which would 
result in district-wide cover.  Members are asked to be aware that an external 
provider is likely to look to be fully funded and therefore costs would be higher 
(and are still being calculated). 

 
 
34. Option 4 
 

Maintain the status quo. 

Implications 
 

35. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk, equality and 
diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following implications have been 
considered:- 

 

Financial 
36. In seeking an external provider to deliver all the schemes across the district within the 

two year deadline, the contract value would be in excess of £200,000 which exceeds the 
procurement threshold of £181,000 for EU procurement and therefore the full weight of 
regulations will apply.   This will involve advertising in the official journal of the European 
Union, competitively tendering and awarding to the highest scoring bidder. 

 

Risks/Opportunities 
 
37. Option 1 
Only parishes who are interested in setting up a new scheme or wishing to extend an 
existing scheme may apply.  It is unlikely that this option would provide full district cover 
within the 2 year time frame.   
This option risks some schemes already in receipt of funding requesting an uplift to match 
the proposed contribution to new schemes.  Members should also be aware that parishes 
choosing to bring in an external provider are likely to request more than the £1000 average 
contribution as costs will be higher.  This option could be resource intensive with regard to 
officer time in liaising with parishes and administering the application process.    

Page 10



 
Based on an average grant award to schemes from the existing fund, the additional funding 
required for new / expanded schemes would be circa £1000 x 71 = £71,000.   

 
38. Option 2 
The risk to option 2 is that there would be no guarantee that the parishes would wish to 
contribute to the scheme following year two and thus schemes may collapse after full funding 
expires.  There would also be a disparity of funding approach; new schemes would be 
funded in full for 2 years whereas existing schemes receive only a contribution from SCDC 
towards the total running costs.   
 
39. Option 3 
This option would ensure district wide coverage but result in disparity in the way the mobile 
warden schemes are funded by SCDC.  New schemes would be funded in full whereas 
existing schemes receive only a contribution from SCDC towards the total running costs.  
The risk to this approach would be that existing schemes request grant funding in full.  While 
work is ongoing to calculate this total cost, we anticipate it could increase the annual funding 
requirement by £600,000.00 (the cost of funding new schemes plus any uplift requested). 
 
40. In 2019/20, the amount of Council grant funding applied for was £31,359.00.  The amount 

awarded was £20,110.00    Schemes sought additional funding to the value of 
£71,227.00 from other sources.    
 

41. In all instances, if an external provider sets up schemes, costs are higher but district-wide 
coverage is more likely to be achieved within the next 2 years.  This would create an 
equitable service for all residents wishing to access a scheme.  The sums concerned are 
high enough that if this were not treated as grant funding, the value of any contract would 
meet the threshold for EU procurement (>£180,000) and this could delay the 
implementation of districtwide coverage within two years (see financial chapter below). 

 
42. The existing schemes are not sustainable without grant contributions and other sources 

of funding and the amount of SCDC grant funding has remained static for many years.   
 

Equality and Diversity 
43. Any decisions arising from this report will be subject to an equality and diversity report. 
 

Consultation responses 
44. Each parish without a scheme has been consulted by telephone or email to gauge their 

interest in setting up a scheme.  A meeting or telephone call has taken place with each of 
the existing schemes in order to complete background information for this report. 

 

Effect on Council Priority Areas 
 

A modern and caring Council 
 

Page 11



 
This piece of work helps to deliver the provision of grants to community and voluntary groups 
to help them carry out projects to benefit local people including the development of a 
business case for increasing the coverage of mobile warden schemes across the district 
 

Background Papers 

None 

 

 

Report Author:  
Lesley McFarlane 
Development Officer, Health Specialist 
Telephone: 01954 713443 
 

 
 
 

Page 12



Appendices 
 

Appendix A: Quotation from Age UK to provide fully funded 
schemes within the strategic sites. 
 
 

Age UK Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Proposed budget for 
new SCDC schemes Income and Expenditure 

 

Income £’s 

South Cambs District Council 94,398 

Service User Fees 57,330 

Total 151,728 

 
 

Expenditure £’s 

Salaries/NI/Pension/Staff Cover 91,346 

Mobile 1,440 

Recruitment 250 

Travel Expenses 13,712 

Marketing 1,000 

Stationary/Postage 700 

Events 2,000 

Support Services 41,280 

Total 151,728 

 

 The above budget is assuming that there will be 7 schemes in total. The 6 
villages; Papworth, Sawston, Thriplow, Gamlingay, Willingham, Whittlesford 
and making the villages along the A428 and A1198 as one scheme 

 The costs are based on each scheme supporting 20 older people in total 

 The weekly cost for the service user has been worked out at £10 per week. 
This has been worked out at 26 weeks for 15 people on the schemes and the 
remaining 26 weeks at 20 people on the schemes and then reduced the total 
figure by 10% to allow for schemes not being up to numbers. 

 The salaries have been calculated on the living wage from the 1st April and 
also include the salary to appoint a part time Team Leader to oversee the 
schemes 

  
 

Page 13



  

Page 14



Appendix B: Parishes requesting further information in setting up a 
scheme 
 

1. Arrington 
2. Caldecote 
3. Comberton (had one but stopped due to cost). 
4. Grantchester 
5. Pampisford 
6. Little Shelford 
7. Fen Drayton 
8. Gt & Little Chisell 
9. Hardwick 
10. Hatley 
11. Horningsea 
12. Little Wilbraham 
13. Papworth 
14. Sawston 
15. Willingham 
16. Wimpole. 

 
 
 

  
 

Page 15



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix C: Quotation from Age UK to provide fully funded 
schemes within the strategic sites and the 16 sites 
demonstrating interest in setting up a 
scheme

 

Page 17



  
 

Page 18



Appendix D: Map  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 19



This page is left blank intentionally.



 
 
  
REPORT TO: 
 

Grants Advisory Committee 27 September 2019 

LEAD CABINET MEMBER: 
 

Councillor John Williams Lead Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

Gemma Barron   

 

 
 

Community Chest: Funding Applications 
 

Executive Summary 
 
1. To consider new applications received between 1 August and 31 August to the 

Community Chest funding scheme during 2019/20 
 
 
2. No   
  

Recommendations 
 
3. It is recommended that the Grants Advisory Committee considers all applications for 

funding that are set out in Appendix A to this report and makes a recommendation to the 
Lead Cabinet Member regarding the level of funding (£0 - £1,000) to be awarded for each 
or defer a decision, if further information is required, or reject an application if it doesn’t 
comply with the grants’ criteria.  

 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
   
4. The Grants Advisory Committee’s role is to consider and make recommendations to the 

Lead Cabinet Member responsible for grants, or Cabinet as appropriate, including, but 
not limited to: 
 
a) Review of the Council’s grants schemes to ensure they reflect Council priorities. 
b) Design of any new or revised grants schemes, including consideration of criteria and 

guidance applicable in respect of each scheme.  
c) Consideration of applications made under the Council’s grants schemes.  

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Details 
 
5. The Community Chest is grant funding available to voluntary and community sector 

groups, charities and public sector bodies wishing to further improve quality of life in 
South Cambridgeshire.  Applicants may apply for up to £1,000 and the community activity 
or project must deliver one or more of the following:  

 

 Improvements to community buildings and spaces (i.e. village halls / pavilions 
/ play areas etc)  

 Repairs to historic buildings / monuments / memorials 

 Equipment / capital purchase 

 Materials 

 Start-up costs (may include training of staff / volunteers, hall hire and other 
revenue costs). 

 
6. Guidance notes and eligibility criteria can be found at Appendix B.  
 
7. Total amount of funding made available for 2019/20 is £58,140.00, with half of this being 

released on 1 April and the other half on 1 October 2019.   
 

8. There are 2 new applications to consider at this meeting totalling £2,000. The amount of 
funding remaining for allocation in the first tranche of the year is £7,966.72. A summary of 
the applications can be found at Appendix A (copies of the applications forms are 
available from the Sustainable Communities and Partnerships Team upon request).  

 

Options 
 
9. The Grants Advisory Committee may consider all applications for funding that are set out 

in Appendix A of this report and recommend to the Lead Cabinet Member to: 
 

 
a. award the amount of funding requested, 
b. award an alternative amount of funding, including zero funding,  
c. defer a decision, if further information is required from grant applicants, or 
d. reject an application stating the reason for this.  

 

Implications 
 

10. The are no significant implications  
 
 

Page 22



 

Risks/Opportunities 
11. Applicants are required to provide supporting documents including copies of their 

constitution, financial accounts and quotes where applicable. Applicants must agree to 
the grant conditions before fund are released.  
 

 

Consultation responses 
12. Local members have been consulted on applications that directly affect their local area.  
 

Effect on Council Priority Areas 
 
13. The corporate aims are referenced in the criteria and guidance notes for the Community 

Chest.  
 

Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Applications Summary 
Appendix B: Guidance notes for Community Chest 19/20 
 

Report Author:  
Ellen Bridges – Project Officer  
Telephone: (01954) 713 294 
 

Page 23



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix A 

Applications Summary 
 

 
COMMUNITY CHEST GRANT APPLICATIONS RECEIVED: 1 July– 31 July 2019/20 

 

  
Name of 
applicant 

 
Type of 
organisation 

 
Village(s)  
affected 

 
Project    
description 

 
Type of 
project 

 
Total cost 
of project 
(£) 

 
Total 
applied 
for (£) 

 
Land 
owned by 
PC 

 
Status of   
documentation 

 
1 

 
Coton Village 
Hall 

 
Village Hall 

 
Coton 
primarily but 
also 
neighbouring 
villages  

 
To upgrade 
their audi-
visual 
equipment  

 
Equipment 
 

 
17,381.00 

 
1,000.00 
 

 
No 
 

 
Complete 

 
2 

 
1st Papworth 
Scouts Group 

 
Scout Group 

 
Papworth 
Everard 

 
To purchase 
dining 
shelters, 
tables and 
benches 
 

 
Equipment 

 
1,409.73 
 

 
1,000.00 

 
No 

 
Complete 

 

P
age 25



T
his page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix B 

Guidance notes for Community Chest 19/20 

What is the Community Chest? 

The Community Chest is grant funding available to voluntary and community sector groups, 

charities and public sector bodies wishing to further improve quality of life in South 

Cambridgeshire. 

Who can apply?  

Applicants must: 

 Either be a non-profit group OR organisation based in South Cambridgeshire or 

benefiting South Cambridgeshire residents, OR be a public sector body with a 

demonstrable community focus (individuals and businesses are not eligible) 

 Be a Parish Council or Parish Meeting with fewer than 160 registered electors 

 Have a written constitution or mission statement 

 Have an elected committee or representative steering group 

 Be able to provide an up to date copy of their accounts and any relevant protection 

policies 

If you have questions about these criteria, please contact us using the details below.    

If your organisation does not have a written constitution, mission statement and/or relevant 

protection policies please contact Cambridge Council for Voluntary Service for advice in meeting 

these requirements.  Please call 01223 464696 or email enquiries@cambridgecvs.org.uk  

What must the project deliver? 

The community activity or project must: 

 Help us deliver one or more of the following aims: 

o Promote healthy and active communities 

o Enable inclusive communities 

o Develop skills 

o Enhance the natural environment 

 Meet local need and leave a legacy for the community 

 Ensure equality of access 

What can be funded? 

The community activity or project should be one of the following: 

 Improvements to community buildings and spaces (i.e. village halls/pavilions/play areas 

etc) 

 Repairs to Historic Buildings/Monuments/Memorials 

 Equipment/Capital Purchase 

 Materials 

 ‘Start-up’ costs (may include training of staff/volunteers, hall hire and other revenue 

costs) 

 

 

Page 27

mailto:enquiries@cambridgecvs.org.uk


Appendix B 

What cannot be funded? 

 On-going revenue costs or overheads (e.g. salaries, rent, advertising, promotional 

materials) 

 Projects that replace funding by other public sector bodies, including parish councils (e.g. 

youth services, highways) 

 Costs associated with preparing/printing Parish Plans 

 Costs associated with Neighbourhood Watch schemes 

 Costs associated with Community Speedwatch schemes or other traffic initiatives 

 Costs associated with purchasing defibrillators 

 Items that would only benefit ‘individuals’ and not the group (e.g. sports kits) 

 Projects that have previously received Community Chest funding in the same financial 

year 

 

How much can be applied for? 

The maximum award is £1,000 in any single financial year (April-March) and can be for 100% of 

the project’s costs unless the initiative is on parish council land, in which case a 50% 

contribution from the parish council is expected.   

If there is high demand for funding it may mean that the Council is only able to make a 

contribution to your project.  The Council reserves the right to prioritise based on funding 

available, size of electorate, parish precept, indices of deprivation, number and type of 

applications received at any given time, priorities for the financial year and value for money.  

Eligibility does not guarantee grant funding.   

When can groups apply? 

The Community Chest opens in April and October each year, with 50% of the annual budget 

released at each point.  Groups can apply at any time during the financial year until the funding 

is fully allocated for that period. 

What supporting documentation is required? 

 A copy of your organisation’s constitution or mission statement  

 A copy of your latest accounts (audited if available)  

 A quote for the community activity or project  

 

In addition, the following will be required if relevant to the project: 

 Appropriate protection policies: children, young people, vulnerable adults 

 Public Rights of Way consent from landowner 

 Any other relevant material that would support your application 

How will the grant be paid? 

If successful, the applicant will receive the grant payment once we have received 

acknowledgement of the grant offer and acceptance of the terms and conditions. 

What are the conditions of funding? 

Groups that are awarded a grant will be expected to comply with the following conditions as a 

minimum: 

Page 28



Appendix B 

 Funding must only be used for the agreed purpose and spent within 12-months of the 

award being made (unless otherwise agreed in writing) 

 Any publicity must acknowledge the award provided 

 Unused grant must be returned to South Cambridgeshire District Council 

 An end of project evaluation must be submitted to South Cambridgeshire District Council 

within 3-months of project completion.  Details about this are available on the SCDC 

website 

Any award will not be means tested but applicants will be expected to have sought other means 

of local funding, especially from the parish council who may have funds available through 

planning developments (S106) or through its precept (S137). 

For further information please go to: 

https://www.scambs.gov.uk/communitychest  

Contact Details:  duty.communities@scambs.gov.uk , 01954 713070 

Page 29

https://www.scambs.gov.uk/communitychest
mailto:duty.communities@scambs.gov.uk


This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

 
 
  
REPORT TO: 
 

Grants Advisory Committee 27 September 2019 

LEAD CABINET MEMBER: 
 

Councillor John Williams Lead Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

Gemma Barron 

 

 
 

GRANTS REPORT 2018-19  
 

Executive Summary 
 
1. To review the delivery of grant programmes funded by the Council in 2018-19.  
 

Key Decision  
 
2. No.   
  

Recommendations 
 
3. The Grants Advisory Committee (GAC) is asked to note, review and comment on: 

(a) the content of the report summarising grant funding for the year 2018-19; and 
(b) the commitment to bring a report (or reports) to a future meeting (date to be 

decided), that will look at options for the following funds, which have been 
identified for review: 
1) Wildlife Enhancement Scheme [see para (d)(ii) of Appendix 1]  
2) Children and Young People's Area Partnership [see para (e)(i) of 

Appendix 1] ; 
3) Elite Athlete Award Scheme [see para (e)(ii) of Appendix 1].   

 

Reasons for Recommendations 
   
4. All organisations receiving grant support delivered the agreed outputs to time and to 

budget, achieving the objectives of the individual grant programmes.  All recipients 
were being actively monitored.  
 

5. The three schemes at 3(b) have been identified for review for various reasons, as 
follows: 
(a) Wildlife Enhancement Scheme – this scheme needs to be reviewed in line 

with current Business Plan priorities;  
(b) Children and Young People’s Area Partnership – this committee of 

countywide partners is under review and so, consequently, there is no need 
for SCDC to provide it with annual funding.  A report on this scheme will be 
brought to GAC when the area partnership review has been undertaken.   

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



 

 

(c) The decision was taken by Cabinet on 3/4/19 to end the Elite Athletes 
Scheme.  However, it was also agreed that this funding would remain grant 
funding and, therefore, this scheme requires a review to bring it in line with 
current Business Plan priorities.  

 

Details 
 
6. This report provides an overview of all grant aid from South Cambridgeshire District 

Council to the voluntary sector. 
 

7. The scope of this report covers the following grant funds: 
 
(a) Supporting Parishes and Communities 

(i) Community Chest 
(ii) Community Energy Grant 

 
 

(b) Voluntary Sector – Advice and other grants  
(i) Service Support Grants  

1. Generalist and Specialist Advice 
2. Community Transport 
3. Independent Living 
4. Support Parishes and Communities 
5. Fit to Learn 
6. Homelessness Prevention 

 
(c) Housing and Independent Living 

(i) Mortgage advice  
(ii) Mobile Warden Scheme 

 
(d) Planning and Economic Development 

(i) Museum 
(ii) Wildlife Enhancement 

 
(e) Young people 

(i) Young People’s Partnership 
(ii) Elite Athlete Award Scheme 

 
8. Funding agreements for grants provided through the Service Support Grants 

programme are for three years, subject to satisfactory performance at annual review.  
This report is for the third (and final) year for funding agreements for 2016-19.  
Monitoring and reporting on grants takes place at six monthly intervals.  
 

9. A summary report of progress including an officer opinion on status against agreed 
targets is provided in Appendix 1. 
 

10. Appendix 2 includes further detailed reports as provided by grant recipients. 
 

11. A summary of Community Chest applications granted in 2018-19 can be found at 
Appendix 3.  
 

Page 32



 

 

12. A summary of Community Energy Grant applications granted in 2018-19 can be 
found at Appendix 4.  
 

Options 
 
13. The Grants Advisory Committee could:  

 
(a) Note the delivery of all grant programmes within the scope of this report, as 

currently delivered; and/or  
(b) Highlight any concerns for further investigation or action ; and/or  
(c) Provide a prospective date for a report (or reports) to come to this Committee 

providing options for the unallocated or discontinued funds – as stated in para 
3 of this report.  

 

Implications 
 

14. There are no significant implications.   
 

 Consultation responses 
 
15. None.  
 

Effect on Council Priority Areas 
 

 Growing local businesses and economies 
 

16. This tranche of grants was agreed by the previous administration and therefore has 
no direct effect on the current Council Priority Areas.  

 

 Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in 
 

17. As above.  
 

 Being green to our core 
 

18. As above.  
 

 A modern and caring Council 
 
19. As above. 
 

Background Papers 
 
Leaders Portfolio Meeting, 16 December 2016 
http://moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=883&MId=6680&Ver=4  
 
Leaders Portfolio Meeting, 28 January 2016 
http://moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=883&MId=6699&Ver=4  

Page 33

http://moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=883&MId=6680&Ver=4
http://moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=883&MId=6699&Ver=4


 

 

 
Finance and Staffing Portfolio Holder’s Meeting, 17 January 2017  
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=6822&Ver=4  
 
Finance and Staffing Portfolio Holder’s Meeting, 22 August 2017 
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=6889&Ver=4  
 
Finance and Staffing Portfolio Holder’s Meeting, 19 December 2017  
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=6897&Ver=4  
 
Grants Advisory Committee, 21 June 2018 
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7305&Ver=4  
 
Grants Advisory Committee, 27 November 2018  
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7433&Ver=4  
 
Grants Advisory Committee, 13 December 2018 
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7448&Ver=4  
 
Grants Advisory Committee, 25 Friday 2019 
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7484&Ver=4  
 
Grants Advisory Committee, 22 February 2019 
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7486&Ver=4  
 
Cabinet, 3 April 2019  
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=293&MId=7366&Ver=4  
 

Appendices 
 
Appendix 1: Officer Highlights Report   
Appendix 2: Individual Reports 
Appendix 3: Community Chest Grants 
Appendix 4: Community Energy Grants 
 

Report Author:  Ryan Coetsee – Development Officer  

Telephone: (01954) 713 461  
 

Page 34

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=6822&Ver=4
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=6889&Ver=4
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=6897&Ver=4
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7305&Ver=4
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7433&Ver=4
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7448&Ver=4
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7484&Ver=4
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1096&MId=7486&Ver=4
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=293&MId=7366&Ver=4


Appendix 1 

Grant Programmes 2018-19 

(a) Supporting Parishes and Communities 

 

(i) Community Chest 

 

The Community Chest provides grants of up to £1,000 to community groups, 

charities and parish councils towards the costs of projects, equipment or work to 

improve the quality of life for South Cambridgeshire residents.  

 

£61,000 was available through the Community Chest for 2018-19.  £57,000 was 

originally available, and one additional sum was added during the year:  £4,000 at 

the Grants Advisory Committee meeting on 13 December 2018 from the Fit to Learn 

theme of the Service Support grant programme, having been allocated to a project 

which was not delivered.   

 

The Community Chest was temporarily closed on 1 July 2018 in order to conduct a 

review of the criteria to align the scheme with Council priorities. Applications re-

opened on 1 October 2018 with the revised criteria.   

 

A total of 69 awards from the Community Chest were made in 2018-19, totalling 

£55,625.84. A sum of £2,985.98 was awarded throughout the year to organisations 

whose projects did not go ahead and this funding was not re-allocated. A summary of 

allocations is presented in Appendix 3.  

 

STATUS: DELIVERED 

 

(ii) Community Energy Grant  

 
The Community Energy Grant provided grants of up to £3,000 to community groups, 

charities and parish councils within South Cambridgeshire who are seeking to deliver 

local energy saving and green initiatives.   

 

£55,000 was available through the Community Energy Grant for 2018-19.  

 

A total of £18,771.40 was awarded to 8 organisations. On 21 June 2018 a decision 

was taken by Grants Advisory Committee to freeze the fund in order to conduct a 

detailed review of the grant. The grant remained frozen until the end of the financial 

year.  

  

The unspent funds and were “rolled over” into the budget for 2019/20. This now 

forms the basis of the newly created Zero Carbon Grant.  

 

A full list of allocations is presented at Appendix 4.  

 
STATUS: DISCONTINUED 

Page 35



Appendix 1 

(b)  Voluntary Sector – Advice and other grants 
 

(i) Service Support Grants 

 

1. General Welfare Advice and Specialist Advice 

 

Funding is granted under this theme for the provision of free, independent, 

confidential advice and advocacy in two categories: 

 

i. to residents on their rights and responsibilities in the areas of debt, benefits, 

employment, housing, legal and relationship/family matters (General Welfare 

Advice) 

ii. to residents who are disabled, to carers and to families with disabled children 

(Specialist Advice)  

 

Funding for the delivery of General Welfare Advice and Specialist Advice was 

allocated to four Citizens Advice Bureaux (CABx) as shown below: 

 

Table 1 

  2016/17 (£) 2017/18 (£) 2018/19 (£) Total (£) 

Cambridge and District 

CAB 

General 52,000 52,000 52,000 
165,750 

Specialist 3,250 3,250 3,250 

North Herts CAB 

 

General 16,800 16,800 16,800 
53,550 

Specialist 1,050 1,050 1,050 

Suffolk West CAB 

 

General 5,600 5,600 5,600 
17,850 

Specialist 350 350 350 

Uttlesford CAB 

 

General 5,600 5,600 5,600 
17,850 

Specialist 350 350 350 

Totals  85,000 85,000 85,000 255,000 

 

The four CABx report jointly with Cambridge and District CAB compiling the report on 

behalf of the others.   

 

Specific measures agreed with the four CABx for Year 3 of the funding agreement 

were as follows, to: 

 

 Provide a free advice service to South Cambridgeshire residents, recording 

all client data, tracking the number of people helped, topic of advice and 

repeat visits 

 Log outcomes from the advice given, recording the value of income gained, 

problems resolved, homelessness prevented, and effect on clients 

 Measure and record client satisfaction with the services provided and record 

customer complaints 

Page 36



Appendix 1 

 Report the nature and number of advice requests generated through the 

touchscreen kiosks and tablets forming one element of the outreach strategy 

 Monitor, on a monthly basis, the quality of advice given, to ensure the advice 

consistently meets the criteria set out by the CiTA QAA system 

 

All specific measures were delivered during year 3.  

 

Headline figures for services provided by the four CABx for South Cambridgeshire 

residents during 2018-19 are as follows.   

 

5665  clients seen  

8478  sessions held (most clients need more than one session to get to point of 

resolution)   

8478 questions answered/issues addressed 

 

Main topic areas were:  

 - Welfare rights 4201 (19%)  

 - Debt and money advice 2663 (21%)  

 - Employment (10%)  

 - Housing (10%)  

 

Income gains and debts written off for clients - £2,414,387.   

 

South Cambs residents served – 41% of total  

South Cambs funding – 10% of total   

 

A full report including case studies is provided in Appendix 2. 

  

STATUS: DELIVERED 

 

2. Community Transport 

 

Funding is provided for the delivery, development and promotion of Community 

Transport services within South Cambridgeshire and for South Cambridgeshire 

residents. 

 

Funding for Community Transport services was allocated to three organisations as 

shown below: 

 

Table 2 

 2016/17 (£) 2017/18 (£) 2018/19 (£) Total (£) 

The Voluntary Network/3CT 

(Three Counties Transport) 
3,835 3,835 3,835 11,505 

Royston and District 

Community Transport (RDCT) 
3,165 3,165 3,165 9,495 

Care Network 

 
8,000 8,000 8,000 24,000 

Page 37



Appendix 1 

Totals 

 
15,000 15,000 15,000 45,000 

 

The Voluntary Network 

 

The Newmarket based Voluntary Network delivers community transport services for 

residents in the southeast of South Cambridgeshire through the operation of Three 

Counties Transport (3CT), formerly Haverhill Community Transport.  Services 

comprise: 

 

 a community car service providing by volunteer drivers using their own cars 

and enabling door to door transport for medical journeys (usually hospital 

appointments). 

 A Dial-a-Ride minibus service providing door to door transport for those who 

find it difficult to use public transport 

 Minibus hire for groups including non profit organisations and residential 

homes 

 

Specific measures agreed with the Voluntary Network for Year 3 of the funding 

agreement were as follows, to: 

 

 Maintain a steady flow of new members 

 Recruit new group members eg residential homes and non-profit making local 

groups 

 Maintain a steady flow of new  voluntary car drivers covering South 

Cambridgeshire 

 Publicise actively the services of 3CT to key potential client groups 

 Deliver at least one presentation to a new group to promote services and 

work with the Council to identify groups. 

 Share good practice with other service providers and co-deliver the 

implementation of the South Cambridgeshire Community Transport Strategy 

 Provide monitoring information by village and report on marketing 

activity3Deliver services in line with the Cambridgeshire County Council 

guidelines for community transport services 

 

All specific measures agreed with the Voluntary Network for Year 3 of the funding 

agreement were delivered in Year 3. Some figures from year 3:  

 

 Number of passenger journeys – 1013  

 Number of new passengers – 28  

 Number of new groups - 1    

 

They have found marketing their services effectively to be increasingly challenging, 

and are aware that their limited capacity can make it challenging to get information 

out on the ground.  As such, from September they are employing a Marketing Officer. 

 

A more detailed report can be found at Appendix 2.  

Page 38



Appendix 1 

 

STATUS: DELIVERED 

 

Royston and District Community Transport (RDCT) 

Royston based RDCT deliver community transport services for residents in 57 South 

Cambridgeshire parishes, mainly those in the southwest, through the operation of a 

community car service, minibus and a wheelchair accessible multi-purpose vehicle 

(MPV).  

 

Specific measures agreed with RDCT for Year 3 of the funding agreement were as 

follows, to:  

 

 Provide monitoring information by village of journeys undertaken in South 

Cambridgeshire, and relate to baseline figures for 2018-19 

 Promote the uptake of RDCT services in South Cambridgeshire, through 

targeted publicity and presentations (at least one per quarter) 

 Promote volunteering to support RDCT South Cambridgeshire services in 

communities to meet demand for services, through targeted publicity and 

presentations (at least one per six months) 

 Continue to work with South Cambridgeshire District Council and others to 

explore opportunities to develop DRT style services 

 

All specific measures agreed with RDCT for Year 3 of the funding agreement were 

delivered during Year 3.  

 

Headline figures for services provided by RDCT are as follows:   

 

5008  journeys made by South Cambridgeshire residents in Year 3 

105*   residents of South Cambridgeshire regularly use the service  

57     parishes covered 

8  presentations given to promote the service; also poster placements and 

press coverage 

 

* New criteria for identifying “regular” users. This is now based on routine monthly  

usage. They confirm the numbers have not changed, merely their interpretation of  

“regular”. Please note: The figures above are an amalgamation of Q1/Q2 and Q3/Q4  

and the report in Appendix 2 is for Q3/Q4 only.  

 

At the point of publishing this report no village-by-village data had been submitted.  

 

A report for Q3 &4 is provided in Appendix 2. 

 

STATUS: DELIVERED 

 

Care Network  

 

Page 39



Appendix 1 

Care Network provides help for older, isolated and vulnerable people – enabling 

them to remain independent and maintain social contact with friends and the 

community.   

 

SCDC has funding agreements with Care Network to support Community Transport 

and also Independent Living (reported below).   

 

Specific measures to support Community Transport agreed with Care Network for 

Year 3 of the funding agreement were as follows, to:  

 

 Deliver six short Community Car training and networking events, delivered 

each year for South Cambs car scheme drivers and coordinators 

 Provide on-going 1-2-1 support to the existing car schemes in South Cambs, 

recording the nature of the enquiry, the advice given and the outcome for the 

scheme 

 Target support for car schemes identified as at risk on Care Network’s 

Resilience measure 

 Represent Community Car Schemes across the county at relevant meetings 

and events, to share good practice with other service providers and co-deliver 

the implementation of South Cambridgeshire District Council’s Community 

Transport Strategy 

 Represent Community Car Schemes with strategic partners such as hospitals 

with a view to improve barriers raised by the schemes 

 Provide one community car scheme case study with each 6 month monitoring 

report 

 
Highlights:  
 

 They have embarked on an in depth research project across the whole of 

Cambridgeshire to identify sustainability threats and support needs to 

community car schemes to ensure people can continue to access this 

transport service. The results of the research will be available in early 2020. 

 

All specific measures agreed were delivered during 2018-19.   A full report can be 

found in Appendix 2.   

 

STATUS: DELIVERED 

 

3. Independent Living 

 

Funding is provided under this theme for the delivery of services that allow residents 

to maintain their independence; reduce rural isolation; tackle loneliness, depression 

and isolation; and offer support to carers.   

 

Funding for the delivery of services to support independent living was allocated to 

four organisations as shown below: 

 

Page 40



Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

Table 3 

 2016/17 (£) 2017/18 (£)   2018/19 (£) Total (£) 

Arts and Minds 2,500 2,500 2,500 7,500 

Care Network 6,500 6,500 6,500 18,500 

Cambs Older People’s 

Enterprise (COPE) 
4,000 4,000 4,000 12,000 

 Disability Information 

Service Hunts (DISH) 
3,000 3,000 3,000 9,000 

Totals 16,000 16,000 16,000 48,000 

 
Arts and Minds  
 

Arts and Minds provide therapeutic arts interventions for adults and young people 

experiencing depression and anxiety.   

 

Specific measures agreed with Arts & Minds for Year 3 of the funding agreement 

were as follows, to provide:  

 

 Three series of Arts on Prescription in Cambridge and one series in a hub 

outside of Cambridge, for adults experiencing depression, stress or anxiety, 

to be attended by a total of at least 21 South Cambridgeshire residents, each 

series to be led by a professional artist and a qualified counsellor and to 

include at least 12 two hour sessions and a visit to a local heritage site or 

gallery 

 

All specific measures agreed were delivered during 2018-19. A full report on Q3 and 

Q4 is included in Appendix 2.   

 

STATUS: DELIVERED 

 

Care Network  

 

Care Network provides help for older, isolated and vulnerable people – enabling 

them to remain independent and maintain social contact with friends and the 

community.   

 

SCDC has funding agreements with Care Network to support Independent Living and 

also Community Transport (reported above).   

 

Specific measures agreed with Care Network for Year 3 of the funding agreement 

under the Independent Living theme were as follows, to:  

 

Page 41



Appendix 1 

 Provide general support to community social groups or schemes that in turn 

support older and vulnerable people, through newsletters, other mailings and 

invitations to training and events 

 To work closely to support at least six groups or schemes as identified by 

client need which might be addressing loneliness and/or depression, 

supporting people with dementia or their carers, or intergenerational work. 

This is likely to include both working with communities to establish new 

groups or schemes and supporting existing groups or schemes to sustain 

themselves or expand.   

 Maintain a physical base in South Cambridgeshire, with staff  ready to 

respond to enquiries and facilities such as meeting room, photocopying etc 

available to local groups 

 To ensure the opportunities for volunteering in South Cambridgeshire are well 

publicised and promoted 

 To capitalise on links with other voluntary organisations and evidence joint 

working, the sharing of information and signposting of volunteers to other 

groups, to include attendance at Local Health Partnership meetings and 

events 

 To provide one social group case study with each six month monitoring report 

 

All specific measures agreed for 2018-19 were delivered by the end of the year.   

 

Headline achievements in South Cambridgeshire:   

 

 140 contacts with groups, providing support and advice as necessary.  

 We delivered the ‘Reminiscence’ session for the Generation Game Course at 

Impington Village College in collaboration with the Connections Bus Project, 

to ten students in Year 9 as part of their intergenerational course to enable 

them to connect with older people in their community. 

 We successfully gained the Investing in Volunteers Accreditation. 

 Attended the Asset Based Community Development course organised by 

CPSL Mind and delivered by Nurture Development. Found it extremely useful, 

giving new ways of working with local communities so their work has shifted 

towards being much more community led.  

 

A full report can be found in Appendix 2.   

 

STATUS: DELIVERED  

 

Cambridgeshire Older People’s Enterprise (COPE)  

 

COPE promotes the interests of people aged 50 and over, through signposting, 

consultation, co-ordinating and advocacy, with the aim to reduce social exclusion, 

challenge ageism, promote active ageing, reduce isolation and demonstrate what 

older people can do. 

 

Page 42



Appendix 1 

Specific measures agreed with COPE for Year 3 of the funding agreement were as 

follows, to:  

 

 Disseminate news and information of interest to older people in South 

Cambridgeshire 

o Produce a bi-monthly newsletter and circulate to members, libraries, 

GP surgeries, and other groups for older people 

 

 Provide representation for older people in South Cambridgeshire 

o Provide representation on appropriate bodies including South 

Cambridgeshire’s Local Health Partnership and relevant local 

government scrutiny committee meetings.  Respond to consultations 

including those of the Cambridgeshire Health and Wellbeing Board   

o Provide an older people’s forum meeting, (which may include the 

COPE AGM) 

o Run one or more campaigns to promote the interests of older people 

 

 Provide a social programme attracting participants from South 

Cambridgeshire 

o Host monthly meetings encouraging social interaction, friendships and 

self-help, thereby reducing isolation and loneliness.  Record the 

number of South Cambridgeshire residents attending  

o Organise monthly outings, encouraging social interaction, friendships 

and self-help, thereby reducing isolation and loneliness. Record the 

number of South Cambridgeshire residents attending  

 
Highlights:  
 

 Besides Loneliness, COPE is at present campaigning for retention of the Free 
over 75 TV licence, keeping analogue access to Council and Public facilities 
and services, and Scams. Letters have been sent to Chief Executives of all 
Cambs Councils and MPs re the analogue access.  

 A new Website has been established - www.copecambs.org.uk.  

 Its Chairman was awarded the Etheldreda Medal by the Bishop of Ely in 
October for work done by COPE for Older People, throughout the County. 

 

All specific measures agreed were delivered by the end of the year.  A report can be 

found in Appendix 2.  

 

STATUS: DELIVERED  

 

Disability Information Service Huntingdonshire (DISH) 

 

DISH provides advice, information and advocacy services to people with disabilities, 

carers and families with disabled children in South Cambridgeshire.  The 

organisation undertakes home visits in order to complete assessments and 

applications, holds office based interviews and provides over the phone advice.  It 

prepares appeals and provides representation for clients. 

 

Page 43

http://www.copecambs.org.uk/


Appendix 1 

Specific measures agreed with DISH for Year 3 of the funding agreement were as 

follows, to:  

 

 Make at least 15 home visits to complete assessments and applications  

 Provide at least 15 face to face advice at DISH offices 

 Provide a telephone advice and signposting service, dealing with at least 90 

enquiries 

 Prepare and take to court at least 3 benefits annually 

 Monitor the effectiveness of services provided, conducting an annual client 

survey providing qualitative information 

 Provide at least one case study with each 6 month activity report 

 Record using the AIMS database the sum of benefits obtained for clients on 

an annual basis which should:  

 

Headline figures are shown in the table below. 

 

Table 4 

Annual SLA report for 2018 to 2019 

Subject DISH Outcomes SCDC 
requirements 

1st April to 
30th 
September 
2018 

1st October 
2018 to 31st 
March 2019 

Total for 
2018-2019 

Home Visits 6 8  14 15 per annum 

Advice at DISH 
offices (face to 
face) 

20  38  58 15 per annum 

Telephone and 
signposting 

25 96  121  90 per annum 

Appeals 2  2 4  3 

Annual 
Equivalent in 
Benefits 

£29,099  £15,228.20  £44327.20 £12,000 in year 1 

 

DISH have exceeded targets for telephone and signposting, appeals and retrieving 

Benefits for customers but fell 1 short of target for home visits.  

 

The new CEO is currently looking into new processes for capturing vital reporting 

data and is fully committed to meeting funding pledges in the future.  

 

A full report is provided in Appendix 2.  

 

STATUS:  DELIVERED  

 

 

Page 44



Appendix 1 

 

 

 
4. Support for Parishes and Communities  

 

Funding is provided under this theme for organisations providing services and 

support to local community groups and charitable bodies which are themselves 

providing services for South Cambridgeshire residents. 

 

All funding under this theme was allocated to Cambridge Council for Voluntary 

Service (CCVS).  

 

Table 5 

 2016/17 (£) 2017/18 (£) 2018/19 (£) Total (£) 

CCVS 10,000 10,000 10,000 30,000 

 

 

Specific measures agreed with CCVS for Year 2 of the funding agreement were as 

follows:  

 

 Organisational development - improvements in the confidence and knowledge 

of people who run local community and voluntary activities.  

o Step by step support and advice with start-ups, growth and service 

development for all groups that need it to include 1-2-1 support, email 

and phone support and access to factsheets and information 

o Advice, information and support on all aspects of financial 

management to small community and voluntary organisations to 

ensure they meet their legal requirements and the requirements of any 

funders 

o One training, information and advice giving event per patch (3 in total) 

to cover topics highlighted by the CCVS annual survey and agreed 

with South Cambs District Council, which will also include funding 

elements and 121 support if requested 

o One attendance at up to 6 SCDC-led patch or districtwide events if 

requested by SCDC to provide advice, information and support to 

local community and voluntary organisations (and/or parish councils if 

relevant to the work of CCVS) 

 Representation – provision of a collective voice for the voluntary and 

community sector, offering expert and impartial representation, so that the 

views of the sector be taken into account as statutory policy makers make 

decisions 

o Representation on the South Cambs Local Health Partnership 

o Representation on the CDRP 

o Representation at other occasional and ad hoc district forums and 

meetings that require a VCS voice 

Page 45



Appendix 1 

 Networking and communications - sharing knowledge and experience within 

the sector; bringing people together to share common issues, identify 

complementary activities and develop joint solutions: 

o 11 newsletters sent to all contacts. These will include updates on good 

practice as well as local and national news and information 

o Regular e-bulletins to all CCVS members giving them additional local 

information, news and advice 

o 11 funding bulletins to CCVS members 

o Social media updates and promotion 

o 2 newsletters to local councillors to promote CCVS and the work of 

the sector 

o 2 newsletters to parish clerks to promote CCVS and the work of the 

sector 

o Communicate by any or all of these means to share appropriate 

information and consultation opportunities highlighted by South 

Cambridgeshire District Council 

 

CCVS has delivered all measures agreed.  A full report is provided in Appendix 2.  

 

STATUS: DELIVERED  

 

5. Fit to Learn  

 

Funding is provided under this theme to support the delivery of services that help 

pre-school children develop strength; co-ordination; language and communication 

skills; and good mental health. 

 

Funding under this theme was allocated to two organisations as shown in Table 6. 

 

Table 6 

 Year 1 (£) Year 2 (£) Year 3 (£) Total (£) 

Cambourne 

Church  
4,000 4,000 4,000 12,000 

Home Start 

Royston & 

South Cambs 

4,000 4,000 4,000 12,000 

Total 8,000 8,000 8,000 24,000 

 

Cambourne Church/Children’s Centre were unable to progress their Fit to Learn 

project during 2018-19 due to staffing issues. Funding was returned to the Council 

and amalgamated into the Community Chest (as above).  

 

STATUS:  NO PROGRESS DURING 2018-19  

 

Home Start Royston and South Cambridgeshire 

Page 46



Appendix 1 

Home-Start Royston & South Cambridgeshire provide support to families in crisis or 

under stress.  They have been funded to roll out the Big Hopes Big Future school 

readiness programme to ten families in South Cambridgeshire.  

 

Specific measures agreed with Home Start for Year 3 of the funding agreement were 

as follows, to:  

 

 Deliver a volunteer training event  

 Hold briefing sessions for  Health Visitors on the aims of the programme and 

the referral process  

 Match a volunteer to each family identified, who will provide them with  

weekly support sessions (for between four and six months) 

 Provide 6 weekly volunteer supervision (undertaken by the scheme 

coordinator) for the duration of the support 

 Monitor the effectiveness of the services provided; the coordinator will 

conduct a review visit with each family supported every three months and at 

the end of support record the feedback from the family through a review 

questionnaire, in a final meeting between the family and the coordinator  

 Provide a written report of progress at the end of the first two quarters by 1 

October 2018 and then for the last two quarters by 1 May 2019. 

 

Ten new volunteers trained and 9 families engaged with the project.  

 

All measures agreed have been met.  A full report is provided in Appendix 2. 

 

STATUS: DELIVERED  

 

6. Homelessness Prevention 

  

Funding is provided under this theme to support the prevention of homelessness in 

the district.  

 

Funding under this theme for 2018-19 was allocated to three organisations as 

indicated below: 

 

Table 7 

 2016/17 (£) 2017/18 (£) 2018/19 (£) 

Cambridge 

Cyrenians  
1,712 1,717 1763 

Cambridge Re-

Use (formerly 

SOFA) 

1,471 1,515 1,556 

Cambridge 

Women’s Aid 
7,528 8,181 8,402 

Total 10,711 11,413 11,721 

  

Page 47



Appendix 1 

Cambridge Cyrenians 

 

The grant from South Cambridgeshire District Council continues to contribute to the 

maintenance and upgrade of computers & IT support for service users. Cyrenians 

provide a PC and internet access for residents in each house to enable on-line 

bidding for housing and to ensure that residents can apply for benefits and search for 

work. 

 

During the period the Cyrenians accommodated seven new residents with a 

connection to South Cambridgeshire and continued to experience an increase in the 

overall levels of referrals to the service; 132 in the half year to March 19 which is an 

increase of 12 compared to the first six months and totals 252 for the year. 

 

41 residents were housed in the period, totalling 88 for the year.  However, during the 

same period two residents were evicted for rent arrears and two residents evicted 

due to their behaviour.  This is a reflection of the increasing level of need of 

applicants.  Many are ex-offenders, coming directly from prison, with significant drug 

and mental health issues. Despite the challenges associated with accommodating 

residents with increasing needs, the service continues to experience a number of 

successful moves out of the service.  This includes moves into social housing, private 

tenancies  and returning to friends and family. 

 

The Cyrenians also continue to provide two female only houses and these have been 

successful in providing a safer and more suitable environment for female residents. 

   

Cambridge Re-Use  

 

Re-use provides low cost household goods to low income families in Cambridge and 

South Cambridgeshire.  Cambridge Re-Use continue to put the grant funding towards 

the cost of running a furniture van which is used both for collecting donations of 

household goods and for delivering purchases to customers’ homes. 

For the period April 2018 - September 2018, a total of 83 households living in the 
SCDC area accessed the service. 
 
For the period October 2018 - March 2019, a total of 88 households living in the 
SCDC area accessed our service. 
 
Therefore, a total of 171 households benefitted from the service during the 12 month 

period.  This is a slight reduction compared to previous years, although take up is still 

high in relation to the amount of grant provided. 

Cambridge Women’s Aid (CWA) 

 

Cambridge Women’s Aid has been providing specialist services to survivors of 
domestic abuse in Cambridge and the surrounding areas for over forty years. 
Currently, CWA does this through the provision of refuge for eleven women and their 
children and by offering tailored specialist support to survivors living in Cambridge 
city, South Cambridgeshire and East Cambridgeshire. 
 

Page 48



Appendix 1 

Refuge 

 

CWA offers a high standard of modern refuge accommodation to women and 
children.  In 2018-19, CWA accommodated 48 women and 68 children in refuge. The 
refuge service focused on the safety of each family and worked with them to reduce 
their risk of harm while supporting them to recover from their experiences. In addition 
to in house individual support, staff also provided various groups and activities to 
build women and children’s confidence and support their independence. CWA 
continued supporting women and children who left the refuge through resettlement 
support for as long as necessary. 
 

Outreach 

 

CWA provided a highly valued needs-led support service that could be accessed 
through our telephone helpline, one to one appointments with a specialist worker or 
through one of our many groups on offer.  This service offers a free and confidential 
service based in the community to support those affected by domestic abuse, either 
directly or by supporting those who know them or work with them.   
 
The Outreach Project provided specialist support to 140 people from the South 
Cambridgeshire area during 2018-19. 
CWA also provided an emergency out-of- hours service 24 hours a day, 365 days a 
year to ensure that refuge and outreach service users could access advice and 
support in a crisis. 
 

STATUS: DELIVERED  

 

(c)  Housing and Independent Living 

 

(i)  Mortgage Advice (Homelessness prevention) 

 

Funding of £8,250 per annum is provided for specific money advice to prevent 

homelessness.    

This funding has been allocated to Cambridge and District CAB to deliver a weekly 

advice session at South Cambridgeshire Hall.   Reporting of this has been combined 

with the report from Cambridge and District CAB on Service Support Fund grant 

aided activity. 

 

STATUS: DELIVERED  

 

(ii)  Mobile Warden Scheme 

 

Funding of £20,110.00 to support mobile warden schemes in 2018-19 was allocated 

by the Health & Environmental Services Portfolio Holder in December 2017 as 

follows: 

 

 

 

Page 49



Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 8 

 Grant Awarded 

2018-19(£) 

Histon & Impington Community Warden scheme (Age UK) 2,520 

Swavesey Community Warden scheme (Age UK) 1,240 

‘Small villages’ Community Warden scheme (Age UK)  

(Balsham, Western Colville, West Wratting, Horseheath, 

West Wickham, Castle Camps and Shudy Camps) 

3,040 

Teversham Community Warden scheme (Age UK) 1,600 

Linton Community Warden scheme (Age UK) 2,500 

Cottenham Mobile Warden scheme  1,200 

Harston & District Village Warden scheme  1,250 

Haslingfield Community Warden scheme  250 

Melbourn Mobile Warden scheme  2,200 

Milton Community Care scheme 2,155 

The Mordens & Litlington Mobile Warden scheme 2,155 

TOTAL 20,110 

 

Reports from all these schemes were received as part of the application process for 

funding for 2019-20.  All schemes were delivering services as expected and all were 

allocated continued funding for 2019-20.    

 

STATUS: DELIVERED  

 

(d)  Planning and Economic Development 
 

(i) Farmland Museum 

Funding of £8,500 per annum is given to support this heritage resource for the 

benefit of residents as well as further afield for education, recreation and relaxation.  

The aim is to ensure that the museum is as accessible to as many people as 

possible and to keep costs to visitors affordable.  

 

Attendance figures for the last 3 years can be seen in Table 9 below:   

 

Table 9 

 2016 2017 2018 

April 865 1399 1231 

May 1401 1270 1225 

June 881 1021 774 

July 1392 1432 1024 

August 1878 2119 1713 

Page 50



Appendix 1 

September 910 1025 811 

October 1059 1204 865 

Total 8386 9470 7643 

 

Highlights from the 2018-19 Year 3 report:  

  

 3 new in-coming Trustees and 2 out-going 

 Since the last report in 2017 the Farmland Museum has seen a drop in 

attendance figures. This has been attributed to the heat wave and drought of 

the early summer and to some very wet weather on several other event days.  

 They were again visited by the Princess Royal who spoke to 70 people 

including the museum’s founder, as well as representatives from English 

Heritage, South Cambs DC, stakeholders, Friends, donors and volunteers.  

 They lost funding from English Heritage which saw them lose 2 Front of 

House staff and also led to a staffing structure change. The 2 permanent 

roles of Museum Manager and Assistant Curator were made redundant and 

replaced with 2 roles of equal status - Museum Officer and Commercial 

Officer.   

 The challenge of recruiting/retaining volunteers is ever-present but they are 

extremely grateful for the volunteered hours received which is the equivalent 

of an annual salary of £16,000 based on the minimum wage.  

 A key action for 2019/20 is to create a robust vision for the next 20-30 years 

with a clear plan for the more immediate 3 – 5 years.  

A full report is provided in Appendix 2. 

 

STATUS: DELIVERED  

 

(ii)  Wildlife Enhancement 

 

The Wildlife Enhancement Scheme (WES) provides grants to parish councils, 

conservation bodies, community groups to support special activities that conserve, 

enhance, restore or create habitats or features that sustain biodiversity. Grant 

allocation is decided by the Consultancy Unit Team Leader in consultation with the 

Ecology Officer with a total budget of £16,000 for 2018-19.  

 

One project was funded through this scheme in 2018-19:   

 

1. Pennywort Hitsquad Project, Cam Valley Forum, £2,880.   

 

This funding has been identified for review and an options paper will be presented to 

a future meeting of the Grants Advisory Committee.  

 

STATUS: UNDER REVIEW 

Page 51



Appendix 1 

 

(e)  Young People 

 

(i) Children and Young People’s Area Partnership 

 

£10,000 was previously allocated to the Children & Young People’s Area Partnership 

but this funding remained unallocated in 2018-19. It was traditionally used to support 

the delivery of SCDC children, young people and families’ priorities.   

 

This funding has been identified for review and an options paper will be presented to 

a future meeting of the Grants Advisory Committee.  

 

STATUS: UNDER REVIEW 

 

(ii) Elite Athlete Award Scheme 

 

The Elite Athlete Award scheme supports sporting talent with grants awarded on an 

annual basis. No funding was allocated for the financial year 2018-19 and 

consequently, a decision was made by Cabinet on 3 April 2019, that the Scheme be 

discontinued and funding for 2018-19 be rolled over into 2019-20 and be allocated to 

increase other existing grant funds.  

 

This funding has been identified for review and an options paper will be presented to 

a future meeting of the Grants Advisory Committee.  

 

STATUS: UNDER REVIEW 

 

Page 52



Appendix 2 
 

1 
 

Individual Reports 2018-19 

 
Reports provided by funded organisations:  
 

1. Citizens Advice Bureaux (CAB) 

2. Three Counties Transport (3CT) 

3. Royston & District Community Transport (RDCT) 

4. Care Network 

5. Arts & Minds 

6. Cambridgeshire Older Persons Enterprise (COPE) 

7. Disability Information Service Huntingdonshire (DISH) 

8. Cambridge Council for Voluntary Service (CCVS) 

9. Homestart Royston & South Cambridgeshire 

10. Farmland Museum 

 
1. Citizens Advice Bureaux (CAB) 

Report from the CAB service in South Cambridgeshire 2017-2018 
 
Figures, case studies and client feedback have been provided by the 4 
supported by SCDC: 

 Citizens Advice North Herts 

 Suffolk West Citizens Advice 

 Cambridge and District Citizens Advice Bureau 

 Citizens Advice Uttlesford 

 
Summary of key statistics: 
 
South Cambridgeshire DC people seen = 5665 clients (+410 from last year) 
 
Amount of work generated by clients = times seen (most need more than one session to get 
to point of resolution) = 8,478 sessions 
 
Questions answered/ advice issues = 13,810 (+969 increase) 
 
Of those questions asked the top topic areas: 
 
• Welfare rights = 4201 (19%) Top benefit work = PIP, ESA, HB*  
• Debt and money advice = 2663 (21%) Top areas = DRO** (463) and Council Tax 

Arrears 
• Employment = 1172 (10%) 
• Housing = 1180 (9%)   
 
Income gains and debts written off for clients:  £2,414,387 
 
*PIP (Personal Independence Payment – usually takes 3 hours to complete applications 
correctly); ESA (Employment Support Allowance); HB (Housing Benefit)   
**DRO = Debt Relief Order 

Page 53



Appendix 2 
 

2 
 

 
Advice Issues: 13,810 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



Appendix 2 
 

3 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



Appendix 2 
 

4 
 

  

Interactive help: 

Our website was visited 27,450 times by 20,304 users over 12 months.  48% of users have 

been recognised as located in South Cambridgeshire. We are now offering webchat to 

clients under our Help to Claim project. 

We answered 1883 (last year 646) enquiries sent to us via email. 

In the period we have answered 1585 phone calls from clients. 

Clients are still using our touchscreen units located in South Cambs DC Office, Gamlingay 

and Sawston.  

Number of clients as a % of total work.  

South Cambridgeshire clients account for 41% of our total work.  

South Cambridgeshire funding represents 10% of our funding.  

Financial outcomes: 

 

Page 56



Appendix 2 
 

5 
 

 

 

      

Page 57



 

1 
 

Service Update: 

The drop in sessions on the first and third Monday mornings continues at Melbourn Hub. 

They are well attended, clients can book an appointment in advance or drop-in and most 

issues can be dealt with in one visit. North Herts who deliver this have observed that 

demand is increasing for both the drop in and casework. 

An appointment system is in operation for the monthly Bassingbourn outreach at The Limes 

Community Centre. This service has less demand, so the system ensures that we only 

attend the centre on days where there is a need. The appointment system is efficient and we 

continue to see a clients with diverse issues. 

The Longstanton and Wilingham outreach based in the GP surgeries have really taken off. 

Lots of positive feedback (separate report has been prepared and submitted)  

We attend the council offices every Tuesday to provide debt casework referred to us by the 

Homeless Prevention team. Many of these clients get referred to the main office for Debt 

Relief Orders.  

Personal Budgeting Support appointments are delivered at the job centre for people moving 

to Universal Credit. 

Additional funds levered in the 12 month period: 

 Successful extension of an Evelyn Trust funded project @ £18,500 for 2 years.  

 Continue to be key partner in the delivery of CLAS. We have a fund of £14,300 to 

award vouchers to clients for white, green goods and food.  

 Help to Claim (getting people signed up to UC) work started in April with funding from 

Citizens Advice of £101,962 

Case Studies: 

Ms P had many problems with her housing. She lives with her adult son who has learning 

difficulties and hard-to-manage behaviour. He works in a supportive work environment and 

earns his own money, but is unable to understand that he needs to contribute to the rent or 

that he would be unable to live alone, despite threatening to move out when asked for rent. 

P’s Housing Benefit claim had been stopped as her eligibility was affected by her son’s 

income, which lead to her falling behind on her rent and at risk of losing her home. 

P’s Housing Association had to move towards possession proceedings due to her large rent 

arrears, but they were aware of P’s vulnerability and wanted to support her. Our adviser 

spoke to the council and the Housing Association on P’s behalf due to her poor literacy and 

memory issues, and once they were made aware that P was receiving support, they paused 

the possession proceedings. After this immediate crisis was avoided, our adviser was 

successful in securing Attendance Allowance for P which then led to her Housing Benefit of 

£74 a week being reinstated. She was also paid her backdated Housing Benefit payments, a 

total of £747. This paid off her rent arrears and stopped her losing her home. 

Our adviser had also noticed that P had no adaptations to her home and was struggling to 

live there safely, including sleeping on the downstairs sofa due to her mobility issues. They 

contacted adult social services to request a needs assessment, which led to P having 

adaptations made to her home and receiving equipment to improve her mobility. Now P can 

Page 58



 

2 
 

live comfortably in her own home, and our work increased her annual income by an 

invaluable £6,827. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Mr S had agoraphobia, severe anxiety and his condition was being made worse by the fact 

that he had recently lost his Disability Living Allowance and now had money problems. His 

GP referred him to his surgery outreach worker for help. 

Like many unwell or disable people who are unable to work, Mr S needed to claim more than 

one benefit to meet his ordinary living costs. 

We were able to establish that he had been moved over from Disability Living Allowance 

(DLA)  to Personal Independence Payment (PIP) and that he had not been able to attend 

the required medical assessment which usually took place in Haverhill. Mr S had explained 

his difficulty going out, but despite a supporting letter from his GP, the DWP refused to carry 

out the assessment at his home. As a result he was refused PIP, depriving him of a more 

than half of his income.  We appealed the decision and won, not only getting regular 

payments PIP at the rate as those of his old DLA, but also getting around £4,000 of arrears 

going back to when his DLA ended.  

During the time we were working on his case, Mr S’s mother, whom he lived with, died. She 

was the sole tenant of the house in which they both lived. This could have led to him 

becoming homeless. However we checked her tenancy agreement and discovered that he 

had a right to take over her tenancy, but that as the property was too big for one person, he 

would not going to be entitled to sufficient housing benefit to pay the rent. 

We helped Mr S negotiate with the housing association who owned the house to provide him 

with a suitable one bedroomed property close by, and made the necessary arrangements to 

ensure the rent on his mother’s house was paid until he moved out and that he received full 

housing benefit on his new home. 

A query about whether or not he needed to pay prescription charges led to the discovery that 

he had been put on to the wrong type of Employment and Support Allowance (ESA) some 

years ago when he was moved onto ESA from Incapacity Benefit which was being phased 

out.. This had led  not only to him not being entitled to free prescriptions, but also being  paid 

less money than he was entitled to. We raised the matter with the DWP and not only got him 

moved over to the correct benefit, but also got back the money he had lost over the last six 

years as a result of this error. This totalled to more than £14,000. 

The DWP subsequently announced that this was a widespread problem and that all other 

claims which might have been similarly affected are being reviewed. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Mrs A is a single parent, with three children, aged 2, 9 and 13 who lost £589 per month due 

to a tax credit decision made by HMRC in February 2018. A’s ex-partner claimed that their 

two older children lived with him. HMRC recalculated the client’s tax credits based on one 

child and backdated it, leading to a tax credit overpayment of £2,783.  

At the end of 2017, A had a relationship breakdown with her partner and was locked out of 

her home with her three children. She was homeless for several months and lived in 

temporary accommodation. In January 2018 she was given a council flat on an introductory 

tenancy. She had also borrowed money from friends and family and had other debts 

Page 59



 

3 
 

including rent arrears and council tax. The client worked 24 hours per week as a biomedical 

scientist at a local hospital.  

Actions Identified:  

 Applied successfully to HMRC to stop deducting money to pay off the tax credit 

overpayment on grounds of hardship, giving client additional £200 per month; 

 Applied for a mandatory reconsideration of the tax credit decision. HMRC upheld 

their decision and in May 2018 a CAB benefits specialist helped the client request an 

appeal.  

 Applied for a grant from the Turn2Us Elizabeth Finn Fund for science professionals 

going through hardship. This was turned down on the basis that A’s income was too 

high; 

 Discussed with A, applying for a CLAS grant for furniture, so that she would be able 

to get her aunt to take over her existing furniture, bought on HP. Applied for £250 

CLAS Cambridge re-use voucher. This saved £150 per month in HP costs;  

Results:  

 Deficit budget of minus £430 brought down to minus £19 per month;  

 Adviser helped client keep tenancy through a housing benefit review; 

 Client able to manage financially while waiting for the tax appeal hearing.   

TIME PERIOD: 9 months 

Feedback: 

The person I spoke to was very lovely. She didn't know the answer straight away but was 

able to help me get to the answer I needed, and I now have the required visa! 

 

CAB was my lifeline when it came to having 'no other means' 

I love the idea of being able to speak to someone who has knowledge about legislation, etc 

that I don't have. Sometimes an issue that you have at home, that you can't or don't know 

how to deal with, can make feel under pressure and worried. It is nice getting advice from 

CAB. 

It is a wonderful free service - please DON’T stop it - it is so nice to think that when you need 

help there is the CAB! 

Just to say thank you all very much for all the excellent service you all provide to all in the 

community. It’s very much appreciated. I will always need help and support . I am disabled. 

Thank you 😊 

I wouldn’t know where to go, so, please don’t close. We need the CAB. The community 

needs all the wonderful people that work there. I always here good words about all the 

wonderful work you all do. Thank you 😊 

Page 60



 

4 
 

The service on offer has been excellent. Where it hasn't been possible to answer my 

questions, I've later had emails from the member of staff that I've seen.  

I was very grateful that everything went so smoothly and I could not ask for a better service 

on the day. 

It was a very good experience one that helped me so very much. 

So helpful. Advice was excellent. Have recommended the CAB and have had them 

recommended to me! 

I am most appreciative that the service is available and local. 

Cambridge CAB have helped me incredibly. 

Some great people providing a much needed service to the community. 

Continue with the important work. We all need you, and many thanks to everyone. 

There is no where I can think of that I would go to if Citizens Advice Bureau were not 

available here in my area. 

The advisor I saw was very helpful and put me at ease helping me with my benefit form 

A massive thank you to CAB! Please continue the good work. 

For me personally, the service was simple, straight forward, helpful and positive. A very 

definite and efficient service 

The staff are very kind and understanding and give good advice. 

2. Three Counties Transport (3CT) 

Dial-a-Ride Group hire figures 2018-19:  

 Yr to Mar 19 
 

No. of Passenger Journeys 1013 
No. of Registered Pax 147 
No. of New Passengers 28 
No. of Groups 12 
No. of New Groups 1 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

5 
 

Trip Count 

 01/04/2018 to 31/03/2019 
 
     

Total 
 

3CT  South Cambs Car 
Service 

Balsham CP 22  

Castle Camps CP 16  

Linton CP 12  

Weston Colville CP 12  

Cambridge Dial A Ride 
Haverhill 

Balsham CP 1  

Hildersham CP 84  

Horseheath CP 70  

Linton CP 504  

West Wickham CP 242  

Community Car Haverhill Castle Camps CP 12  

Community Car Hospital 
Appointments - Haverhill 

Castle Camps CP 4  

Wheels Within Wheels - 
For South Cambs 
Residents 

Castle Camps CP 4  

Fulbourn CP 8  

Linton CP 22  

 1013  

 

 We have recruited and trained a new DATS trainer, enabling us to continue to 

provide MiDAS training. 

 We have trained/retrained 2 new drivers able to provide services to South Cambs 

Residents 

 We continue to market our services across our area, we are pleased with our 

success in Linton, refreshing publicity and connections has achieved some new 

members. 

 We have found marketing our services effectively to be increasingly challenging, 

aware that our limited capacity can make it challenging to get information out on the 

ground.  As such from September we are employing a Marketing Officer. 

 We have identified a potential need emerging need from passengers in Balsham, 

they seem to prefer to travel to Cambridge, although Haverhill and Newmarket can 

also be considered.  We will look to contact Balsham Parish Council to try to 

establish the level of demand, we may be able to assist.  We would appreciate any 

data/feedback available to South Cambs DC. 

Page 62



 

6 
 

 We have successfully increased the operating hours of Haverhill DAR and have 

redirected many shorter journeys away from Community Cars to DAR.  This has 

enable us to increase financial sustainability and availability of volunteer car drivers 

for essential hospital appointments, simply a better use of resources. 

3. Royston & District Community Transport (RDCT) 

RDCT have consistently delivered a valued service for South Cambs residents. They have 
provided low cost door-to-door transport through their scheme, which is open to anyone who 
cannot use public transport for reasons of age, impaired mobility or social exclusion owing to 
the lack of a public transport option. This has been achieved, in part, by the voluntary effort 
of forty-eight volunteer drivers operating in the district. The grant awarded covered core 
funding support. 
 
Funding agreed for 2018-2019:  
 
Key achievements in Q3 and Q4 in line with the schedule of grant: 
 
2,535 journeys (1,234 health-related), 43,474 miles (24,306 health-related), 105* regular 
users in South Cambs, covering 57 parishes. 
 
Six presentations given to promote the service; press coverage and poster placements 
during the Q3 & Q4 period. 
 
*Regular users based on new criteria of users travelling on average at least once a month 
throughout the year. Some clients travel one or two times a week. 
 
 

4. Care Network 

APPENDIX 3  – SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED IN YEAR 3 

  
Overall 
Mission 

To provide community transport development services and support services to 
organisations supporting elderly and vulnerable residents of South 
Cambridgeshire. 

  
Key 
Deliverables 

To develop, deliver and publicise community car scheme training, provide 
support to individual car scheme and establish new community car schemes to 
meet the needs of South Cambridgeshire residents. To sustain and develop 
schemes to support the elderly and vulnerable and encourage an inter-
generational approach to support for the elderly within communities. 

  
Specific 
Measures 

 

Community Transport 

Page 63



 

7 
 

 To deliver six short Community Car training and networking events, 
delivered each year for South Cambs car scheme drivers and 
coordinators. 

 Delivered six networking Get Togethers and training sessions over the 

year attended by 

o Shelford Support Group, 
o Fulbourn CCS 
o Cottenham CCS 
o Histon, Impington and Girton CCS 
o Toft CCS 
o Heron – Orwell CCS 
o Bourn CCS 
o Barton CCS 
o Hardwick Caldecote & Dry Drayton CCS 
o Haslingfield & Harlton CCS 
o Foxton Help Group 
o Cambourne CCS 

 Common issues which continue to be raised include the increase 
in requests for hospital and medical journeys, transporting 
passengers with mobility issues, requests for transport to visit 
relatives in care homes, insurance and recruiting new drivers. 

 Many of the coordinators and drivers are elderly and are finding it difficult 
to recruit more volunteers to help out although they are 
generally positive about the future of community car schemes. 

 We always offer to hold a Networking Get Together at a local CCS 
volunteers’ meeting so that the groups do not have to travel to 
Hardwick. This is usually taken up by Fulbourn CCS and the Heron 
Group CCS 

 It has been useful to have Gavin Moulton from CCC in attendance at 
some of the Networking Get Togethers to answer drivers and 
coordinators queries directly. 

 Feedback from the participants was very positive and they appreciated 
the opportunity to hear how other schemes are run and to discuss the 
issues faced with others in a similar situation. 

 We continue to encourage CCS who do not engage as much as some 
other schemes, to come along and always send a follow up email 
summarising the Networking Get Together discussion and including any 
information requested. 

 We publicise the Networking Get Togethers and CCS generally 
through Care Network Facebook page and Twitter.  

 To provide on-going 121 support to the existing car schemes in South Cambs, 
recording the nature of the enquiry, the advice given and 
the outcome for the scheme. 

 Attended 12 car scheme AGMs and regular meetings as invited 

 Responded to enquiries raised, and made over 105 contacts with Car 

Schemes 

 We have worked with SCDC to produce a new South Cambs 
Transport Directory. We contacted all the CCS in South Cambs to 
ensure that their contact details, villages covered and types of 
journeys are up to date and correct. 

Page 64



 

8 
 

 To target support for car schemes identified as at risk on Care Network’s 
Resilience measure. 

 Support has been given as needed to each scheme with a 
targeted focus on ensuring volunteer driver and coordinator 
recruitment and parking issues at hospitals. 

 Due to our close work with the car schemes over the previous 3 years, 
the issues raised and gaining a better knowledge of the role played in 
local communities by the CCS, we have now embarked on an in depth 
research project across the whole of Cambridgeshire to identify 
sustainability threats and support needs to community car schemes to 
ensure people can continue to access this transport service. The 
results of the research will be available early 2020. 

 To represent Community Car Schemes across the county at relevant meetings 
and events, to share good practice with other service 
providers and co-deliver the implementation of South Cambridgeshire District 
Council’s Community Transport Strategy. 

 To represent Community Car Schemes with strategic partners such as hospitals 
with a view to improve barriers raised by the schemes. 

 We have continued to liaise with the Access Office at Addenbrookes 
Hospital as many schemes have experience difficulties with the new 
system to gain access to the hospital car park 

 We are liaising with the Assistant Project Manager at the Royal 
Papworth Hospital on the Addenbrookes site to ensure provision for 
CCS drivers and passengers. 

 The CCS have reported an increase in ‘out of area’ hospital journeys 
and we are discussing with CCC the importance of their continued 
support for the cost of these journeys. 

 Through our other services within Care Network, car schemes are 
represented at all levels of meetings within the County Council, local 
district councils, community health and hospitals 

 To provide one community car scheme case study with each 6 month monitoring 
report. 
 
Shelford Support Group Case Study 
 
The Group was first started by Biddy Wilkinson nearly thirty years ago, she 
began as a driver and then became the group coordinator as the demand for 
journeys and support grew. Now in her eighties, Biddy decided the time had 
come to take a back seat but she will continue as secretary. 
 
Care Network assisted with the publicity to find new coordinators to take over the 
running of the group and fortunately found three willing, keen volunteers. 
 
We held a Networking Get Together on 26th February in Hardwick which was 
attended by twenty CCS coordinators and drivers, including three new 
coordinators of the Shelford Support Group. This training was aimed at giving 
car scheme co-ordinators and drivers the opportunity to meet together to share 
best practice. It is particularly helpful for new volunteers to meet others doing the 
same role. 
 
We attended the event held by Shelford Support Group to thank Biddy Wilkinson 
for all the work she has done on behalf of the Group. We had the opportunity to 
meet with the coordinators and drivers and presented Biddy with a plant from 
Care Network in appreciation of her many years in the role. 
 
We continue with supporting the new coordinators as they settle in to running the 
group. 

Page 65



 

9 
 

Specific 
Measures 

Independent Living 

 To provide general support to community social groups or schemes that in turn 
support older and vulnerable people, through newsletters, other mailings and 
invitations to training and events 

 As well as providing information and email updates to groups on 
such matters as SCAMS or new initiatives for loneliness, we 
started to plan a series of networking and information sharing 
events. 

To work closely to support at least six groups or schemes as identified 
by client need which might be addressing loneliness and/or depression, 
supporting people with dementia or their carers or intergenerational 
work. This is likely to include both working with communities to establish 
new groups or schemes and supporting existing groups or schemes to 
sustain themselves or expand. 

 
Over 140 contacts with groups, providing support and advice where necessary.  
As well as this day to day support we have: 

 In January, we started to work closely with the School Council at 
Cambourne Village College to arrange a 50s Tea Party for older 
residents in Cambourne which took place in May. We are supporting the 
students so that they have the resources and contacts to arrange 
further events as part of the School Council’s responsibilities each year. 

 We delivered the ‘Reminiscence’ session for the Generation Game 
Course at Impington Village College in collaboration with the 
Connections Bus Project, to ten students in Year 9 as part of their 
intergenerational course to enable them to connect with older people 
in their community. 

 Attended Fulbourn Patient Participation Group at Fulbourn GPs Surgery 
to discuss the possibility of setting up a Good Neighbour Scheme to 
reduce loneliness and social isolation in the community. We are 
continuing to work with the group. 

 

  Cottenham mobile warden scheme, attended AGM, supported with 

GDPR and linked with Little Shelford who are considering setting up a 

similar scheme themselves 

 Continuing to support Little Shelford who have held their first Tea Party 

for older residents. 

 To maintain a physical base in S Cambs, with staff ready to respond to 
enquiries and facilities such as meeting room, photocopying etc available to 
local groups 

 We maintain our base in Hardwick and where we are able to hold some 
of the CCS Networking Get Togethers and we are always happy to 
support for photocopying requests, design and printing of posters and 
flyers for groups and CCS. 

 To ensure the opportunities for volunteering in South Cambridgeshire are well 
publicised and promoted 

 The Volunteer Manager, Christine Perea, supports publicity and 

promotion for all volunteer roles. 

 We successfully gained the Investing in Volunteers Accreditation. 

Page 66



 

10 
 

 To capitalise on links with other voluntary organisations and evidence 
joint working, the sharing of information and signposting of volunteers 
to other groups, to include attendance at Local Health Partnership 
meetings and events 

 We attend the Cambourne Network & Natter sessions and involve 
Cambourne Time Bank coordinator and volunteers in any events 
we are holding in Cambourne. 

 We attended the Asset Based Community Development course organised 

by CPSL Mind and delivered by Nurture Development and found it 

extremely useful, giving new ways of working with local communities so 

our work has changed from being much more community led. We have 

the confidence to spend time listening to what residents themselves want 

and use our skills when called upon by the community rather than 

imposing our ideas. 

 Along with a member of the Community Navigators team, we had a Care 

Network information stall at the Cambridgeshire Local Councils 

Conference, which was a great networking opportunity where we engaged 

with parish councillors, clerks and members of local organisations 

throughout Cambridgeshire. 

 We took part in the ‘Art and Creative Ageing’ Information Day held at 

Kettles Yard, gathering useful contacts and information regarding the 

benefits of creativity in later life. 

 Care Network is also a member of the Health & Wellbeing Network and 

we attend all networking events arranged. 

 To provide one social group case study with each six month monitoring report 

 
Landbeach Singing for Fun 

 
Care Network attended Landbeach Sing to Remember group. They explained 
that the group is fairly small now and they would like to increase the number 
of attendees.  Previously, the group had been formed for people with dementia 
and their carers but as Landbeach is a small village, we suggested that 
changing the group name to Singing for Fun group may widen the 
participant group. We have produced a new poster and sent copies to group 
Coordinator / treasurer. The Coordinator is happy to have her details on the 
poster. 

 
We put Kelly Austin (Granta Medical Practice ) in contact with the coordinator as 
there is a waiting list for another singing group ‘Sawston Sing to Remember’ 
which is very successful but now full to capacity. We have suggested that 
the coordinator contacts the Age UK mobile Warden who covers  
Landbeach and Waterbeach and to contact  Fen Edge Association. We 
have also given the group information on finding grants and group policies. 
We continue to publicise the group through Care Network Facebook page and 
Twitter, as well as ensuring that Care Network Community Navigators and 
Help at Home teams know of the changes and that the group is welcoming 
new members. 

 

 

 

Page 67



 

11 
 

5. Arts & Minds 

Arts and Minds 
Report to South Cambridgeshire District Council  
Arts on Prescription October 2018 to April 2019 
 
During the second half of 18-19, Arts and Minds was able to offer Arts on Prescription 
sessions in three locations; Cambridge, St Ives and Peterborough, with 20 sessions in 
Peterborough, and 23 in both St Ives and Cambridge.   
 
The sessions took place at the Museum of Archaeology and Anthropology (MAA) in 
Cambridge, the Norris Museum in St Ives and the Peterborough Museum in Peterborough. 
We are extremely grateful to both the MAA and the Norris Museum who provided a room for 
the workshops free of charge, which enabled us to increase the number of sessions we were 
able to offer in these locations.  Both venues provide an interesting, stimulating, safe and 
friendly, regular base. The response to the sessions piloted in Peterborough proved there 
was a bid demand in the city.  
 
The sessions supported by South Cambridgeshire District Council saw the culmination of a 
three-year project ‘Heritage for Health’ delivered with support from the Heritage Fund, South 
Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambridge City Council and a number of smaller Trust 
funds.  The project culminated with an exhibition of work created by participants who took 
part in the programme at the Museum of Archaeology and Anthropology. The launch on 10 
April welcomed over 80 people, including a number of participants and generated a palpable 
buzz. Participants were pleased and proud to see their work exhibited at the museum they 
had come to know well. The exhibition runs until June.  
   
A film was also made as part of the exhibition which can be used, together with some of the 
artworks, for a touring exhibition to publicise Arts on Prescription. 
 
Cambridge Hub  
Weekly workshops ran at the MAA from October to March only breaking for public holidays. 
All workshops were led by a professional artist, supported by a counsellor and took place on 
Tuesday afternoons from 1.30pm to 3.30pm. A variety of art techniques were explored 
during the sessions including clay, Chinese ink, collage, drawing and needlework.  Visits 
were also made to the Fitzwilliam Museum, Botanic Gardens and the newly opened Kettle’s 
Yard. During the 6 months, 53 people took part 16 of whom were residents of South 
Cambridgeshire from Hardwick, Harston, Lower Cambourne, Milton, Swavesey, Oakington, 
Whittlesford (x2), Girton (x2), Sawston, Caldecote, Upper Cambourne, Impington, 
Comberton and Waterbeach.  
 
St Ives Hub 
Weekly workshops were run from October to March from 1.30pm – 3.30pm on Wednesday 
afternoons at the Norris Museum. These were led by a professional artist and supported by 
a counsellor. A variety of art techniques were explored during the sessions including clay, 
Chinese ink, collage, drawing and needlework.  Visits were also made to the Fitzwilliam 
Museum and Kettle’s Yard.  During the six months 34 people took part – one was from 
South Cambridgeshire – Swavesey. 
We were a little disappointed with the number of people who attended the sessions in St 
Ives as we thought it would prove an attractive location for people in the Swavesey/Over 
area of the County. However, it is clear that most participants from South Cams prefer to 
attend sessions in Cambridge.  We continue to promote the sessions through GP surgeries 
in these areas.  
 
Peterborough 
The first pilot series was launched in Peterborough at the end of September with 10 weekly 
sessions (until the end of December), followed by a further series of 10 sessions from 
January to March 2019.  Again, the sessions were led by an artist, supported by a counsellor 

Page 68



 

12 
 

and were held at the Peterborough Museum. The participants also visited John Clare House.  
42 people took part, none from South Cambridgeshire. 
 
Evaluation 
We continued to evaluate the programme by asking participants to complete relevant 
questionnaires that measured their levels of anxiety and depression at the end of the 
programme. These were contrasted with earlier questionnaires and identified significant 
improvements in wellbeing, social inclusion and a significant decrease in levels of anxiety 
and depression.  
Please find attached the Project Report and Evaluation. which gives details of the evaluation 
statistics and feedback from participants.  
 

Arts on Prescription  
Session Details April to September 2018 
 
CAMBRIDGE 
 

Date  Venue No of Participants 

2.1018 MAA 4 

9.10.18 MAA 9 

16.10.18 MAA 9 

23.10.18 MAA 7 

30.10.18 MAA 13 

6.11.18 MAA 9 

12.11.18 MAA 12 

20.11.18 MAA 11 

27.11.18 MAA 10 

4.12.18 MAA 8 

11.12.18 MAA 12 

8.1.19 MAA 11 

15.1.19 MAA 12 

22.1.19 MAA 10 

29.1.19 MAA 13 

5.2.19 MAA 13 

12.2.19 MAA 11 

19.2.19 MAA 14 

26.2.19 MAA 11 

5.3.19 MAA 12 

12.3.19 MAA 14 

19.3.19 MAA 12 

26.3.19 MAA 16 

 
ST IVES  
 

Date Venue Attendees  

3.10.8 Norris Museum  8 

10.10.18 Norris Museum 6 

17.10.18 Norris Museum 8 

24.10.18 Norris Museum 8 

31.10.18 Norris Museum 8 

7.11.18 Norris Museum 7 

14.11.18 Norris Museum 5 

21.11.18 Norris Museum 8 

28.11.18 Norris Museum 6 

5.12.18 Norris Museum 9 

12.12.18 Norris Museum 6 

9.1.1 Norris Museum 15 

Page 69



 

13 
 

16.1.19 Norris Museum 7 

23.1.19 Norris Museum 12 

30.1.19 Norris Museum 10 

6.2.19 Norris Museum 10 

13.2.19 Norris Museum 7 

20.2.19 Norris Museum 7 

27.2.19 Norris Museum 7 

6.3.19 Norris Museum 6 

13.3.19 Norris Museum 5 

20.3.19 Norris Museum 9 

27.3.19 Norris Museum 11 
 

 
PETERBOROUGH   
 

4.10.18 Peterborough Museum 15 

11.10.18 Peterborough Museum 15 

18.10.18 Peterborough Museum 11 

25.10.18.11.188 Peterborough Museum 11 

1.11.18 Peterborough Museum 12 

15.11.18 Peterborough Museum 12 

22.11.18 Peterborough Museum 14 

29.11.18 Peterborough Museum 12 

6.12.18 Peterborough Museum 11 

7.2.19 Peterborough Museum 13 

14.2.19 Peterborough Museum 17 

21.2.19 Peterborough Museum 13 

28.2.19 Peterborough Museum 12 

7.3.19 Peterborough Museum 11 

14.3.19. Peterborough Museum 12 

21.3.19 Peterborough Museum 10 

28.3.19 Peterborough Museum 15 

4.4.19 Peterborough Museum 10 

11.4.19 Peterborough Museum 9 

18.4.19 Peterborough Museum 13 
 

 
Final Evaluation:   

Arts on Prescription – Heritage for Health 

Arts on Prescription – Heritage for Health was a project designed to add an extra dimension 

to Arts & Mind’s successful Arts on Prescription sessions that had been running since 2012, 

by offering the sessions in partnership with Cambridgeshire museum and heritage sites.  

Sessions took the museum collections as a starting point to inspire artwork created during 

the subsequent sessions. As a result, new visitors were brought to the museums that, in 

turn, were able to develop a closer relationship with these visitors. The programme was 

designed for people experiencing mild to moderate anxiety and depression with the aim of 

improving their well-being, supporting social inclusion and reducing symptoms of depression 

and anxiety. The sessions aimed to introduce participants to heritage sites in their local area, 

enabling them to become familiar with activities available there and to increase their sense 

of social inclusion.  The programme ran from March 2016 to April 2019. 

An exhibition at the Museum of Archaeology and Anthropology was organised in April 2019 

and the private view on 10 April was a great success with many of the past participants 

attending.  There was a real buzz at the event and a great sense of pride for many the 

participants for the work they had created. It also proved very beneficial PR to spread the 

word about the positive impact the arts and heritage can have within social prescribing. The 

event was attended by the Deputy Lieutenant for Cambridgeshire, Ms Lily Bacon, the Master 

Page 70



 

14 
 

of Pembroke college, Chris Smith, and a number of local funders and health providers. The 

exhibition continues until June. 

Evaluation  

Benefits for Participants  

The series was evaluated throughout the series, in association with Anglia Ruskin University, 

to measure the impact on participants. This was done by means of a baseline questionnaire 

and an end of project questionnaire. The questionnaires used recognised measures of 

depression (GAD7), anxiety (PHQ9), Well-being (WMWBS) and Social Inclusion. The 

evaluation showed that there was a statistically significant improvement in well-being and 

social inclusion and statistically significant decrease in anxiety and depression.  This was 

despite the fact that over the course of the series, participants who attended often had 

additional more complex problems. In addition to anxiety and depression, many participants 

also had additional physical, mental and socio-economic conditions as a result of their illness 

and cuts to benefits. We also sought feedback from participants regarding their opinion of 

their experience and how it could be improved. See below for their comments.  

Other Benefits 

During the first year of the project, the Museum of Archaeology and Anthropology (MAA) in 

Cambridge and the Norris Museum in St Ives offered to host the weekly workshops as well 

as visits and this provided an improved offer for participants.  They began to feel at home in 

these museums and that they had a ‘safe’ place in the middle of town they could always go 

to. It is not surprising that these museums attracted new volunteers from the participants 

with 4 volunteering at the MAA and one at the Norris. Although a further three also joined the 

Opening Doors project at the Fitzwilliam Museum. We also learnt that some participants 

came to visit the museums again, in order to bring family and friends due to the close 

relationship they felt with the museum. The knowledge and familiarity that they had gained 

during the sessions gave them a sense of ownership of the museum and they were proud to 

share this with others.  

Other groups of participants agreed to continue to meet together after their sessions had 

finished, some continue to regularly visit the galleries together, as well as making art or just 

meeting for coffee. In these ways the series have helped people to take control, to start to 

manage the symptoms of their mental health problems. 

What we learnt 

 Training was offered to museum staff and volunteers early on in the project about 

welcoming visitors with mental health problems but it was the informal learning 

gained whilst delivering the programme together that proved most beneficial.  Small 

adjustments that had a big effect. For example, we learnt to be careful about 

exhibition selection as we found that one talk about weaponry and armour, which 

included mention of the practice of trepanning, had to be very carefully managed as 

the images it created caused difficulties for some participants. We needed to be 

aware to avoid ‘Triggering’ with some exhibits and conversation. Similarly a 

reconstruction of a Victorian operating theatre was avoided.  

 

 We learnt that for many people visiting a new museum or heritage site was quite 

challenging. Many of the participants had physical problems in addition to the anxiety 

and depression (no doubt the two were related) which could make visits more 

difficult. Moreover, for many, Arts on Prescription was the only time in their week 

when they went out apart from visits to the doctor. Visits could be quite daunting for 

some participants therefore and we found that it was not a good idea to have  a visit 

on the first session as originally planned so we moved the first visits to the second 

Page 71



 

15 
 

session when participants were feeling more familiar with the set up. We also had to 

be more selective in the sites we visited – Houghton Mill was difficult as some people 

found it was bad for their COPD (Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary disease) whist 

others found it claustrophobic. The Botanic Gardens however were a joy for 

participants – it was interesting, calming, flat, contained and friendly. It is a very 

popular place for our participants to visit and provided much inspiration.  

 

 We also found that running the evaluation was quite difficult as the questions that the 

survey asks are quite intense (see attached questionnaire) and require the 

respondent to think deeply about their mental health which was not always the most 

positive start for a new session. It was also difficult at the end of the series as well as 

people were always sad when they came to the end and thinking about their lives did 

not support this. We therefore moved the end questionniare to the second to last 

session so the last session was celebratory. We also stopped the evaluation in 

December 2018 once it became clear the series was showing the same benefits as 

the earlier research had shown. 

  

 We originally planned to hold one series a year in 4 different locations in 

Cambridgeshire but this proved challenging because we built up a waiting list of well 

over a year and also people found it quite difficult to travel to the more remote 

centres. Over the course of the project we therefore moved towards running a year 

round programme of three series a year in ththree hubs Cambridge. St Ives (where 

the museums hosted the workshops) and Peterborough. Savings made on the venue 

hire and transport budget allowed us to run extra sessions which enabled us to bring 

down the waiting list considerably.  

 

Over the course of 3 years the support of Heritage Lottery has been integral in delivering 

and expanding Arts & Minds' heritage programme for arts on prescription, reaching more 

people and locations than originally anticipated. The demand for Arts on Prescription, and 

individual's interest in connecting with heritage assets locally has enabled this success. This 

project, that connects individuals in need with their community through heritage, has been 

held up as a leading national example of how arts on prescription can support vulnerable 

individuals within our society. As a result, Gavin Clayton has extensively supported and 

consulted with other organisations, local authorities and funders to share Arts & Minds' 

model, informing and influencing the national agenda. This includes Arts and Minds being 

used as a key case study in the 'Creative Health' report, published by the All-Parliamentary 

Group for Arts, Health and Wellbeing, which also references Heritage Lottery's support of 

the programme and consulting on the Heritage Fund’s own Health and Wellbeing 

development  

Evaluation Data  

Adults Data HLF April 2016- December 2018 

  
Demographic data 
 207 participants completed base-line data. 

86/207 (45%) were aged 25-49, and 81/207 (42%) were aged 50-74 years of age. 

136/207 (66%) were female. 

151/207 (79%) identified as white British, 5% White Irish and 10% ‘other’ white background. 

81/207 (39%) had a disability 

89/207 (47%) were educated over the age of 21 (graduates) 

89/207 (45%) were not in paid work, 61 (31%) described themselves as retired or ‘other’. 

Page 72



 

16 
 

  

207 participants completed baseline data with 40% of participants completing the 
questionnaires at the end of the programme. 

  

The findings indicate that participants experienced statistically significant 

improvements in wellbeing and social engagement, and statistically significant 

reductions in anxiety and depression. Participants also rated the sessions highly on 

the programme evaluation form. 
  

1.    Improvements in wellbeing measured using the Warwick and Edinburgh Wellbeing 
Scale 

 The mean score at the beginning of the programme (T1) was 33.34 (s.d. 10.20), and a 
score of below 40 is considered below average well-being (Tennant et al. 2007).  At the end 
of the programme (T2) the mean score was 39.84 (s.d. 11.95). Whilst this is still below 40 it 
does indicate an increase in the mean score of wellbeing of 6.5. A change of three points or 
more between pre and post interventions is considered to represent a meaningful clinical 
change (Maheswaran et al. 2012).  

Because the data at T2 were not normally distributed a Wilcoxin Signed Rank test was 

performed to determine whether the improvement between T1 and T2 was statistically 

significant. The Wilcoxin Signed Rank test revealed a statistically significant increase 

in the WEMWBS following the Arts on Prescription programme z=-4.850, p<0.001 with 

a medium effect size (r=0.4), according to Cohen (1992). The median score on the 

WEMWBS scale increased Md=34 to post programme Md=41.  

2.    Social Inclusion Measure 

Scores for social inclusion increased (+ 1. 39) between T1 (M=5.39, SD=3.51) and T2 

(M=6.79, SD=3.37) and reached statistical significance: The Wilcoxin Signed Rank test 

revealed a statistically significant increase in the Social Inclusion Index following the 

Arts on Prescription programme z=-4.322, p<0.001 with a medium  effect size (r=0.3), 

according to Cohen (1992). The median score on the Social Index scale increased Md=5 to 

post programme Md=7. 

  

3.    GAD7 (Anxiety)   

Anxiety scores significantly decreased (– 2.87) between T1 (M=12.78, SD=5.49) and T2 

(M=9.91 SD=5.29). and reached statistical significance: The Wilcoxin Signed Rank test 

revealed a statistically significant decrease in anxiety following the Arts on 

Prescription programme z=-4.779, p<0.001 with a medium  effect size (r=0.4), according 

to Cohen (1992). The median score on the GAD7  decreased Md=13 to post programme 

Md=9. 

  

4.    PHQ9 (Depression) 

Depression scores significantly decreased (– 4.08) between T1 (M=14.70, SD=6.95) and T2 

(M=10.62 SD=6.50). and reached statistical significance: The Wilcoxin Signed Rank test 

revealed a statistically significant decrease in depression following the Arts on 

Page 73



 

17 
 

Prescription programme z=-5.359, p<0.001 with a medium  effect size (r=0.4), according 

to Cohen (1992). The median score on the PHQ9  decreased Md=14 to post programme 

Md=9. 

  

The participants rated the Arts on Orescription programme highly with a mean score of 9.14 

on the evaluation form, (range = 6 -17 where 6 is the maximum score achievable and 30 is 

the minimum).  
 

Participants were also asked for their opinion on Arts on Prescription and how it 

could be improved. These are their comments 

 This has been such a wonderful and stimulating programme. It has made a big 

impact in my life and has inspired me to be more creative and to send more time on 

me.  

 

 It has been an amazing experience and I have learned a lot about myself including 

just to have a go and not to expect perfection. Thank you. 

 

 I have enjoyed my time in arts and minds, and meeting new people 

 

 I have really enjoyed being on this course, it is the first time I have done art. 

 

 It has been great to meet other people who are so not judgmental and supportive. 

The waiting time was quite long. 

 

 Just give them as much support and encouragement as I got.  

 

 I think you are doing everything you possibly could. I have really enjoyed all of the 

sessions and they've gone by so quickly. Sometimes 2 hours feels a little long to 

concentrate for, but other times we really need the 2 hours so I think it is ok as it is.  

 

 The course is brilliant and the people running it are friendly and engaging. Only 

suggesting would be to do the furthest museum visit last, to build up people's 

confidence in the group first. 

  

 It was a wonderful experience! Thank you so much. 

 

 Maybe develop some kind of after programme; I would like to develop some art/craft 

workshops to deliver at local venues! It would not be an overstatement to say that 

Arts on Prescription has changed my life. I am grateful 

 

 I enjoyed the course, but enjoyed it more in the Arts and Minds office, as small table 

everyone much more together and social, in the box coffee room a few times felt on 

my own. 

  

 Really loved every session- thank you so much for your support and kindness during 

the art classes. Highly recommended. Thank you, you have inspired me to build my 

future and career as an artist! 

 

 I really like coming to Arts and Minds, I would like to have done a bit more painting. 

Also would like to come back. And a big thank you to the helpers.  

 

Page 74



 

18 
 

 Some of the session e.g. Botanic Gardens had too much 'talking' first so there wasn't 

much time for art. I would have preferred not to use the same medium twice (chinese 

ink!!!). Caroline, Janet and Kev are lovely :)  

 

 I really look forward to coming; I lack confidence so much, I don’t know of anything to 

dislodge it.  

 

 This is a well balanced, well-managed programme. Venue is excellent. Could not 

suggest any improvement.  

 

 I really enjoyed going to different places and the botanic gardens and the museum. 

All the craft and arts we did I really enjoyed.  

 

 I wish it could be longer. It could lead into something more I could do to feel useful, 

but everyone has been really supportive. 

 

 I enjoyed all sessions, perhaps we could have more pottery work. 

 

 I have really enjoyed the programme. I wish I had known about it sooner. I missed a 

large part of the programme. If arts on prescription is always to return to the Wisbech 

area, I would have no hesitation in participating. I have also recommended the 

programme to other professional organisations in Wisbech. Many thanks to the 

people who run the course.   

 

 Closer to Peterborough/Huntington; Wood work 

 

 Possibly: If you could offer other art forms i.e. ceramics or sewing. The course has 

been the only time I have left the house in over 3 months I have found it invaluable. 

Particularly the group, as there is no pressure to talk. 

  

 It would have been wonderful for it to have lasted longer than 12 weeks, it's been a 

fantastic experience with a fantastic group of people. Thank you Caroline, Jessa and 

Janet.  

 

 Would be good to develop certain arts skills by doing some things consistently rather 

than doing different things every time.  

 

 A very interesting course- which has introduced me to new ideas and new ways of 

doing things!!! 

 

 It's been really great thanks so much.  

 

 I enjoyed the company of others on the course and the opportunity to learn different 

techniques associated with art.  

 

 The session at the MAA have been great. It has helped enormously, I have enjoyed 

all the art worth we have been doing. It has helped me to renew my interest in art and 

coming has improved my levels of anxiety. 

 

  There should be more sessions. The group are finally getting to know each other 

and interacting well and supporting each other. All these things the time for people to 

feel comfortable with the strangers they initially meet. Some people struggle with 

social situations/ social interaction, and it takes time to overcome these issues. The 

Page 75



 

19 
 

course has been time to overcome these issues. The course has been fantastic! Just 

wish we had more sessions to look forward to.  

 

 Caroline and Rob have been complete rocks to everyone, I wouldn't change a thing, 

they have been fantastic and so well organised.  

 

 I think we need some aprons when we plan to work with paint/ink and tissues/wet 

wipes when we use pastel/chalks. We could provide our own if we are told in 

advance. The tea and biscuits are most welcome! 

 

 I have really enjoyed talking to people who are experiencing the same things as me. 

Also, the variety of art activities is great. 

 

 It's been great to have coffee/tea together and chat during our visit to the Botanic 

Gardens. I'd encourage more things like that if possible.  

 

 Absolutely loved it. Cohesive fun people/groups. Caroline (our artist) was brilliant - so 

friendly, talented, generous, encouraging, just wonderful. Rob (councellor) was very 

appropriate and helpful at the right times, available and encouraging too. Great 

location. Great outings (fitz. mus and bot. gardens). Wonderful variety and 

stimulating activities each week. Would love it to last longer!! 

 

 I think this is a fantastic programme and I have been inspired to try new media and to 

draw in .( I have very much liked and avoided drawing a painting in colour) I feel 

more confident and my drawings are boses and more 'free form' more spontaneous, 

less stiff.  

 

 No, I think it is a great programme and I have really appreciated being part of it. Rob 

and Caroline are very attentive and friendly and the range of art activities and types 

have been great. I wish I could keep going! Thank you so much.  

 

 A bit more time - 2 hr is too short. Really only 1 hr to try creative things (maybe allow 

gallery time beforehand to add extra time).  

 

 Open the start time as 10 minutes to 1pm-so those of us who struggle to get places 

on time have an earlier target! I wasn’t entirely clear whether Janet was available for 

a brief word in the earlier sessions-I found a few factors very difficult early in the 

sessions (now discussed) but it would have been more helpful to have been able to 

talk them through (briefly) nearer to or at the time the matter/feelings were arising. 

THANK YOU SO MUCH FOR ARTS ON PRESCRIPTION 

 

 There was a beautiful range of object materials and artistic techniques and 

approaches was throughout the course. I feel very fortunate to have been given the 

opportunity to attend and hope that many more people get this opportunity in the 

future, I am excited to develop the new skills I've learned and hope to more 

productive artwork in the future 

 

 I am pleased Arts on Prescription very much should be carried on. I think everyone 

on the course enjoyed it and socially a very friendly group. Nice people I would not 

have met and will continue to see 

 

 I loved all aspects 

 

 None that I can think of 

Page 76



 

20 
 

 

 Can't really see how it could be improved-I loved the variety of activities and visits. I 

loved getting to know everyone (I usually find this difficult) 

 

 Fantastic opportunity to discover explore unknown skills that really can to get your 

mind off things and make you feel calm 

 

 Since taking part in Arts on Prescription I have started to produce my own artwork 

again. The first time in over 3 years and I am happy with my progress. I have found 

this fantastic opportunity both for my mental health and for my confidence. Thank you 

x 

 

 As I find it difficult to relax among others, I have really only just started to relax a bit 

through the time, so I personally would prefer the programme to be attended or have 

an option for extension 

 

 Clever idea on the councelling support available via AonP. Other projects that I am 

aware of sometimes offer follow up support once course has finished, e.g. illuminate 

(confidence courses). One coaching, ongoing support is available to participants 

once the course is finished (I haven't dome illuminate but know of it and have 

referred clients to it) 

 

 AoP has been an amazing experience. It is the only time I did something and made 

time for myself. I have met some wonderful people. Since attending the group I have 

had a significant health diagnosis, problems at home and unexpected divorce papers 

4 weeks before Christmas. With our AoP and our lovely people who attend, including 

Caroline - art teacher, Janet not forgetting Jessa from the beginning, I really don’t 

think I’d be here now. I have enjoyed the group so very much and feel sad it is now to 

an end but so grateful to be able to be part of it. Thank you so much. Perhaps in the 

future it would be nice for people who attend to receive a certificate of their 

participation. I feel this would mean a lot and something to remember the group by. 

As our group was at the Norris Museum, it has been really wonderful learning about 

our local. history and seeing, touching artifacts with thanks to Ally whose knowledge 

has been incredible. Also the lovely area, tea, coffee and cakes each week. How 

lucky we have been. Thank you so so much everyone for all your hardwork 

organising and just being you!! It's really made a difference :) 

 

 It was amazing and the best 'therapy' I have ever had. For the first time I had hope 

for the future! I realise that as it is funded it is limited to length per person, but if it 

could be maybe 1/2 hour longer? Enjoyed the interaction of the program with the 

museum.  

 

 really welcoming and friendly people I wouldn’t change a thing 

 

 It has been great to try out new things to me. The environment has been supportive 

and very friendly 

 

 I really like having new subjects/new activities most weeks, including the museum 

visits with educators - so interesting. It's been so good to try new ideas and increase 

engagement and skills, and remembering those I used to do and enjoy. Really 

enjoyed course, lovely group, feel more confident, and able to commit to longer 

experiences now. Thank you.   

 

Page 77



 

21 
 

 It would be good to continue with 'Arts on Prescription'  a group that could meet up 

for doing art and supporting people with health issues. Doing art for therapy is very 

important - it helps break the isolation of being stuck at home. 

 

 Arts on Prescription has been a truly amazing experience and I really appreciate 

being able to participate in it. It's been wonderful to try out various types of artistic 

techniques (to experience the different materials/paints etc.). Caroline has been very 

helpful and supportive as has Janet, Also Shena too. The venue for AoP the room at 

MAA is perfect for it and I’ve really looked forward to going each week. 14 weeks is a 

good time to realy experience the sessions and to get to know the participants better. 

Also at no cost to participants, especially with quality materials is almost 

unprecedented. Thank you! 

 

 To continue your good works. Thank you so very much for all your times devotion to 

the class and to me - as I feel in particular. Kind regards, Patchara. 

 

 I think this is a fantastic opportunity it really creates a sense of belonging to a friendly 

group of people. I have enjoyed being a part of A.O.P.P. The only down side being 

my time here has come to an end. I wish everyone the best in the future. Thank you 

very much for allowing me to be part of it as helped me so much. Cheers Stephen. 

 

 

 I have really enjoyed coming to arts on prescription and I have found it a meaningful 

and valuable experience. Thank you so much, it's been really great.  

 

 offer further sessions 

 

 I joined the programme half way through so the programme was already well 

established. But I have really enjoyed it.  

 

 Really enjoyed the programme. I hope it gets run regularly. Great for confidence 

building and having a reason to get out. It s run well, maybe have an extra 15 mins at 

the beginning to check in with everyone and how they are doing. But we mostly end 

up chatting anyway.  

 

 I have loved it! I kept coming as I was a bit concerned from the 1st session as I think 

that was too early for us to 'tour' the museum and would have worked more mindfully 

if chairs had been made ready upstairs for those of us with mobility issues. Thank 

you again for an inspiring and nurturing course.   

 

 I have very much enjoyed the course and I feel happier about my skills 

 

 Was a wonderful social and encouraging time. Felt well looked after and cared for, 

Very relaxing. Thank you.  

 

 I like the people in the group. The two teachers were encouraging and positive 

 

 Evening would be better for lots of people who suffer anxiety/stress/depression that 

are coping with going to work but are struggling like me. I ad to make my time up at 

work and found it an issue with a colleague leaving work early to attend as she 

clearly found it inconvenient.  

 

 thank you so much for providing this course, it has helped me to get out of the house 

and to talk to other and feel safe. I’ve really massively enjoyed the course and 

Page 78



 

22 
 

meeting some new people, although now I am feeling fairly sad that the course has 

come to an end. I wish it could go on longer and be an ongoing thing because it has 

helped me so much and I’ve looked forward to coming to each week. Thank you so 

much to the lovely people that have run this course it's been great.  

 

 the art on prescription was fantastic. There was a really good mix that we did weekly. 

I felt encouraged to try things that I had not done before.  

 

 this course has brought to me out of myself and given me something to look forward 

to each week I wish it could continue  
 

6. Cambridgeshire Older Persons Enterprise (COPE) 

Grant Agreement South Cambridgeshire District Council 
Annual Report April 2018 to March 2019 
Activities carried out during the year with a grant of £4,000 from SCDC 
 
This report continues on from the half yearly report submitted in November 2018. 
 
There were monthly outings and events throughout the rest of the year, and a report was 
prepared on the questionnaires received back from members, regarding their needs and 
problems and if they are affected by loneliness. The questionnaire was prepared in 
association with the Campaign to End Loneliness. The report was published in the Dec-Jan 
newsletter. This was to have been presented to the Live Well partnership meeting in 
January, but the meeting was cancelled.   
 
COPE has an office in the St. Lukes Community Centre which is open on Weekdays from 
10.00am to 13.00pm. The office is maintained by Volunteers who answer the phone and 
operate the computer. Approx. 12 members also 'stuff' the printed Newsletter into addressed 
envelopes to be posted to members every two months. COPE has 2,587 members with 777 
living in S Cambs. 
 
The Executive Committee (all Trustees and invited members) meets quarterly, Editorial and 
Research Committee meets monthly (discuss Newsletter content and Campaigns and 
surveys. 
  
Newsletters 
 
October/November, December/January and February/March newsletters were produced 
each of 20 pages, containing articles on COPE campaigns, health and well being, dementia 
caring, and avoiding scams. There were also articles on travel, COPE visits, and members 
memories, with details of groups and associations for older people. 2,000 copies are printed 
of each copy and distributed to members and the general public, with 300 sent to members 
by email and others who requested it that way. All South Cambs members receive them. 
Other copies were sent to local councils, community centres, GP Clinics and health centres, 
libraries care homes and recently park and ride shelters. 
 
A  new Website has been established, www.copecambs.org.uk ,  which contains  COPE 
activities and what it provides for the older person, recent newsletters, details of outings and 
how to join, emphasising that membership is free. 
 
Representation 
At year end COPE had lost two trustees but acquired two replacements, so it still has 8 
trustees. 
They attended  Local Council, Health Partnership, Dementia Connect, Carer Groups, Bus 
Passenger Association, Greater Cambridge Partnership and Loneliness Meetings. The 

Page 79

http://www.copecambs.org.uk/


 

23 
 

Chairman attended the AGM of The Campaign to End Loneliness at the British Library, 
London. COPE is also a member of the National Pensioners Convention, CCVS, NCVO and 
attends Remembrance Services, through out the County. Its Chairman was awarded the 
Etheldreda Medal by the Bishop of Ely in October for work done by COPE for Older People, 
throughout the County. 
 
Besides Loneliness, COPE is at present campaigning for retention of the Free over 75 TV 
licence, keeping analogue access to Council and Public facilities and services, and Scams. 
Letters have been sent to Chief Executives of all Cambs Councils and MPs re the analogue 
access. 
 
Volunteers are continually needed to help COPE maintain and expand its services for Older 
People, and ensure its representation throughout the County. 
 
Outings 
Oct.     Silver Sunday, Older Persons Tea Party, St Lukes  45 persons (15 S Cambs) 
Oct. Ely Cathedral Tour          17 persons (8 S Cambs) 
Nov.    Scotsdales Garden Centre, Shelford     15 persons (6 S Cambs) 
Dec.  Christmas Lunch, Hallmark Hotel, Bar Hill           119 persons (40 S. Cambs) 
Jan. New Year Lunch, Slepe Hall, St Ives     54 persons (25 
S.Cambs) 
Feb. Anglesey Abbey       12 persons  (6 persons) 
Mar. Spring Lunch, Cambridge Regional College     67 persons (25 
S.Cambs) 
 
Social Events 

 St Ives Free Church Hall, 2nd Fri. each month,10.30 -12.30, Talk, Tea & Coffee, av. 20 
-30 attend. 

 Queen Edith's Chapel,Cambridge,3rd Weds each month, 12.00-14.00, Talk, Light 
Lunch,av15-25 att. 

 St Luke's Community Room, 2nd & 4th Weds each month, 10.30- 13.00, Social, 
Lunch, av 10 attend 

 
David Bailey, 
Chairman 
April 2019 

    

7. Disability Information Service Huntingdonshire (DISH) 

2016 – 2019 - Summary of Activity 

Summary 

A period of significant change at DISH over the 3-year period. 3 managers, and a new CEO 

appointed in April 2019. 

New process changes and infrastructure to enable capturing of vital information as required 

by funders and stakeholders. 

A commitment to excellent partnership and relationship working. 

To make home visits as required to complete assessments and applications  

• 15 home visits per annum 

 42 home visits over course of 3-year period 

 

To provide face to face advice at DISH offices 

Page 80



 

24 
 

• 15 advice sessions annually 

 44 office visits 

 

To provide a telephone advice and signposting service. 

• At least 90 telephone enquiries dealt with annually 

 We don’t have the facility to keep accurate records of numbers of phone calls. 

 

To prepare and take to court benefits appeals 

 At least 3 undertaken annually 

 

 11 appeals 2016 – 2019. 

 

To monitor the effectiveness of the services provided, conducting client surveys on survey 

monkey, providing qualitative information. 

• Annual survey data to be made available –  

 2018 survey 

 95 questionnaires sent  

 16 responses (very poor 15% return) – next survey due at end of 2019. 

 All rated DISH 5 out of 5 

 Key questions 

 How would you rate the service? Do you think there is a need for an 

organisation like DISH? How did you hear about DISH? 

 

• A case study provided with each 6 - month activity report 

 Only 2 case studies filed – this is a situation that will improve as the use of 

testimonials and case studies is now a high priority. 

 

To record using the AIMS database the sum of benefits obtained for clients on an annual 

basis 

• Quantitative data provided annually, and fed into case study (see measure above) 

• 150 database entries recorded annually.  

 86 clients with average hours of 3 per client with average of 5 separate 

interactions (phone, visit, email) per client recorded. 430 recordings. 

 

• Aim to deliver a return of 4x the investment in DISH services through this grant (i.e. 

£12,000 in year 1) 

 

 2016 – 2019 Overall return for SC clients £117,235.03 

 Average award per client - £3,006.03 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



 

25 
 

Annual SLA report for 2018 to 2019 

Subject DISH Outcomes SCDC 
requirements 

1st April to 
30th 
September 
2018 

1st October 
2018 to 31st 
March 2019 

Total for 
2018-2019 

Home Visits 6 8  14 15 per annum 

Advice at DISH 
offices (face to 
face) 

20  38  58 15 per annum 

Telephone and 
signposting 

25 96  121  90 per annum 

Appeals 2  2 4  3 

Annual 
Equivalent in 
Benefits 

£29,099  £15,228.20  44327.20 £12,000 in year 1 

 

8. Cambridge Council for Voluntary Service (CCVS) 

Key deliverable Specific measures Activity RAG 

O
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
d

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 

Im
p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

o
n

fi
d
e

n
c
e

 a
n
d

 k
n
o

w
le

d
g

e
 o

f 
p
e

o
p

le
 w

h
o

 r
u

n
 

lo
c
a

l 
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 a

n
d
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
. 
T

h
e

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 t
o

 b
e

 p
ro

v
id

e
d

 

a
n

n
u

a
lly

: 

Step by step support and advice with start-ups, 
growth and service development for all groups 

that need it. This will include 

1-2-1 support, email and phone support and 
access to factsheets and information 

 

CCVS delivered 338 
support sessions 
organisations that 
work in South 
Cambs. 

Of these sessions 59 
were 1-2-1 sessions. 

“Thank you all so 
much for all the 
support you have 
given us over the 
years, it's very 
exciting to be able to 
share this news with 
you and thanks again 
for all you have done 
for us.” 

“thank you for your 
time and your advice 
last week.  You 
managed to instil 
some clarity and help 
me to see a way 
forward.  I'm sure we 
will be in touch 
during the build to 
pick your brains 
again.  Much 

 

Page 82



 

26 
 

appreciated, 
thanks!  ” 

Advice, information and support on all aspects 
of financial management to small community 
and voluntary organisations to ensure they 
meet their legal requirements and the 
requirements of any funders 

CCVS delivered 47 
Finance and 
Fundraising 
sessions. 

“I just wanted to let 
you know that we 
have been 
successful with our 
Lottery Community 
Fund bid and so now 
have our project fully 
funded. Thanks for 
all the help you gave 
me” 

“Very satisfied after 3 
years of contact with 
CCVS. Extremely 
helpful guidance 
when applying for 
funding because they 
made us think much 
more widely about 
potential benefits 
than our initial narrow 
views.” 

 

1 training, information and advice giving event 
per patch (3 in total) to cover topics highlighted 
by the CCVS annual survey and agreed with 
South Cambs District Council, which will also 
include funding elements and 121 support if 
requested 

In the last year 391 
participants from 
groups working in 
South Cambs have 
attended a CCVS 
training course or 
event. We continue 
to deliver our joint 
training/funding 
events across the 
district in the past 
year we have 
delivered 

1. Event held in 
Cottenham on 2nd 
July. 17 people 
attended the 
sessions and all 
rated the event as 
Excellent or Good. 

“Very practical and 
informative. Excellent 
speaker. Thank you!” 

 

Page 83



 

27 
 

2. Event held in 
Fulbourn on 31st 
October. 12 People 
attended 

“Lots of good info 
provided will be 
helpful for the future” 

3. Event in held in 
Hauxton on 20 Feb. 
36 different people 
attended. 

“Thank you for 
organising such a 
useful pair of 
sessions” 

Attendance at up to 6 SCDC-led patch or 
districtwide events if requested by SCDC to 
provide advice, information and support to 
local community and voluntary organisations 
(and/or parish councils if relevant to the work 
of CCVS) 

We are open to 
invites to attend 
meetings but receive 
very few. 

We have attended 
events at Northstowe 
and run training there 
for local groups. 

 

Page 84



 

28 
 

R
e
p

re
s

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

P
ro

v
is

io
n

 o
f 
a

 c
o

lle
c
ti
v
e

 v
o

ic
e
 f
o

r 
th

e
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 s

e
c
to

r,
 o

ff
e

ri
n

g
 e

x
p

e
rt

 a
n

d
 i
m

p
a

rt
ia

l 

re
p

re
s
e

n
ta

ti
o
n

, 
s
o
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 v

ie
w

s
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
c
to

r 
b

e
 t
a

k
e

n
 i
n

to
 a

c
c
o
u

n
t 
a

s
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 p
o

lic
y
 m

a
k
e

rs
 m

a
k
e

 

d
e

c
is

io
n

s
 

Representation on the Local Health 
Partnership; 

Representation on the CDRP; 

Representation at other occasional and adhoc 
district forums and meetings that require a 
VCS voice. 

 

 

We have attended 
both CDRP and 
LWAP meetings and 
continue to ensure 
that the voice of the 
voluntary sector is 
heard. We have also 
participated in 
discussions about 
how these groups 
could evolve and 
how they work with 
other networks. 

We continue to 
attend the community 
meetings in the 
different growth 
areas and have 
attended planning 
sessions for the 
North east 
Cambridge scheme 
as well as both the 
Northstowe and 
Southern Fringe’s 
meetings. 

 

N
e

tw
o

rk
in

g
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s
 

S
h

a
ri
n

g
 k

n
o

w
le

d
g

e
 a

n
d

 e
x
p
e

ri
e

n
c
e
 

w
it
h

in
 t

h
e

 s
e

c
to

r;
 b

ri
n

g
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 

to
g

e
th

e
r 

to
 s

h
a

re
 c

o
m

m
o

n
 i
s
s
u

e
s
, 

id
e

n
ti
fy

 c
o

m
p

le
m

e
n
ta

ry
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 a

n
d

 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

 j
o

in
t 
s
o

lu
ti
o

n
s
: 

11 newsletters sent to all contacts. These will 
include updates on good practice as well as 
local and national news and information 

Regular e-bulletins to all CCVS members 
giving them additional local information, news 
and advice 

11 funding bulletins to CCVS members 

Social media updates and promotion 

2 newsletters to local councillors to promote 
CCVS and the work of the sector 

Over the period 
CCVS sent out: 

 12 editions of the 
Monthly newsletter. 

 13 e-bulletins to 
members, 

 4 bulletins to the 
CEO group. 

 11 editions of the 
funding bulletin that 
is produced in 

 

Page 85

http://www.cambridgecvs.org.uk/reports/4


 

29 
 

2 newsletters to parish clerks to promote 
CCVS and the work of the sector 

Communicate by any or all of these means to 
share appropriate information and consultation 
opportunities highlighted South 
Cambridgeshire District Council 

 

partnership with 
other County CVS 

 3 bulletin to all 
councillors 

 3 bulletins to all 
parish clerks 

The website is 
constantly updated. 
In this period, we had 
over 523,800 hits 
from 40,412 unique 
visitors. We have 
developed four 
webinars in 
partnership with 
Cambridge Online 
that help groups 
develop their digital 
skills. These are 
available from the 
Cambridge Online 
Youtube page. We 
will continue to 
promote these.  

Social Media 

Twitter continues to 
be our primary 
platform and the 
CCVS feed had 2787 
followers as of 31st 
March 2019 which is 
a growth of over 600 
in the year. 

We continue to use 
Facebook and 
Instagram to 
advertise events and 
training, but more 
importantly to share 
the work of members 
and local charities 
with our audience. 

The CCVS blog has 
been growing and 
has received both 
local and national 
recognition. Our most 
popular blogs are 
being read over 150 
times. Over the year 

Page 86

https://www.youtube.com/user/cambridgeonline/videos
https://www.youtube.com/user/cambridgeonline/videos


 

30 
 

we have had over 
1300 views. 

Newsletters 

We are working with 
Parish councils as 
well as SCDC to get 
more articles 
promoting our work 
into the magazines 
that they publish. 

 

9. Homestart Royston & South Cambridgeshire 

24th April 2019  

Report to: South Cambridgeshire District Council  

Report from: Home-Start Royston & South Cambridgeshire  

Programme: Big Hopes Big Futures Overall Mission: To provide support to families in crisis 

or under stress in South Cambridgeshire Key Deliverables: To deliver “Big Hopes, Big 

Future” school readiness programme to 10 families Specific Measures as detailed in 

Agreement 2016 – 2019.  

1. To deliver a volunteer training event  

We have delivered BHBF training to new staff to ensure that they are able to support 

volunteers sufficiently. Resources have been considered, revamped and extended and 

resource information sent to volunteers with information about what is included in the bags. 

We have trained 10 new volunteers to be able to support a family through the BHBF project.  

2. To hold briefing sessions for Health Visitors on the aims of the programme and the 

referral process  

 

We have met with Health Visitors in South Cambridgeshire to promote the BHBF project. 

This has been especially important following changes to teams and the loss of long-standing 

Health Visitor colleagues with a good understanding of Home-Starts and the school 

readiness support we are able to offer. This year we have also received referrals from Early 

Intervention Family Workers, Preschool Managers, Children Centre family support workers 

and schools. We promote the project through our social media platforms including website 

and take every opportunity to reach and inform other potential referrers.  

3. To match a volunteer to each family identified, who will provide them with weekly 

support sessions (between four and six months)  

Over the year April 1st 2018 to March 31st 2019 we have had 10 families referred into the 

BHBF project. The referrals for these families have come from a variety of agencies 

including Health Visitors, Children’s Centre’s, School’s Family Support Workers and parent’s 

referring themselves. All 10 families have been matched with a volunteer and are receiving 

or have received home visiting support.  

Page 87



 

31 
 

4. To provide 6 weekly volunteer supervision (undertaken by scheme coordinator) for 

the duration of support  

All volunteers who have provided weekly support to families have received 6 weekly 

supervision sessions. Supervision is face to face between the co-ordinator and the volunteer 

and takes place at the office in a confidential environment. Supervision in this way enables 

the co-ordinator to keep well informed of the support that the volunteer is providing, the 

opportunity to consider any changes that may be necessary and plan future support, taking 

into account any contact and/or reviews between the family and coordinator, as well as any 

feedback from the referring agency or any other agencies that might be involved with the 2  

family. The co-ordinator can support the volunteer to make use of the activity cards and the 

resource bags available so that support can be planned in the most effective way for each 

family. This is also an excellent opportunity to provide positive feedback to volunteers that 

families have articulated at review visits with coordinators.  

5. To monitor the effectiveness of the services provided; the coordinator will conduct 

a review visit with each family supported every three months and at the end of the 

support record the feedback from the family through a review questionnaire, in a final 

meeting between the family and the coordinator  

For each of the families that we have worked with a review visit will be completed where the 

coordinator is able to work with the family to re-assess their needs and adjust support 

accordingly. All families have received at least one review. Here are some comments from 

the families that we have supported:  

• “My volunteer helps me survive being a mum”  

• “I’ve learnt new ways to play and support my child and everyone is happier”  

• “I’m starting to learn about understanding to stay calm with my child”  

• “We seem happier as a family and more involved together”  

• “My volunteer is able to take me to local services that I wouldn’t otherwise be able to 

access”  

• “My volunteer is a lovely person. She’s really good with the girls, brings the right 

things for them to play with and is a good listener”  

• “My daughter’s speech has really come on – I notice how much better she is at 

speaking. She is much clearer and they have seen a difference at pre-school too”  

• “It has been really reassuring to pull on my volunteer’s vast experience as a 

mother/grandmother”  

6. Provide a written report of progress at the end of the first two quarters (October 

2017) and then for the last two quarters (at April 2018)  

We have provided training to some of our new staff to enable them to deliver training and 

support to volunteers working with families on the Big Hopes Big Futures Programme. We 

have trained 10 new volunteers to be able to deliver school readiness support through the 

BHBF project to families, making use of the resources and ideas packs that are available for 

this home visiting. Having been delivering BHBF training for the last three years has meant 

that we now have a good bank of volunteers who have received the training and can be 

Page 88



 

32 
 

matched with a BHBF referral. We have maintained contact with referrers and worked in 

different ways to make the programme available and accessible to more families. We have 

received referrals from new schools and preschools demonstrating that our marketing 

techniques are proving to be successful. Over the last year 10 families have been referred 

into the BHBF project. Of these families we have supported 9 with weekly home visits from a 

trained volunteer. One family was matched with the volunteer and then decided after the first 

visit that they did not want to engage any further in the programme. We informed the 3  

referrer and left the door open for the family to be re-referred if they changed their mind. As 

well as requiring support to help their children become ‘school ready’ the families referred 

into the BHBF project are often experiencing other stresses including:  

• English as a second language  

• Isolation – lack of family and/or peer support  

• Poor parental mental health including Post Natal Depression, low self-esteem, anxiety, 

personality disorder  

• Children with developmental delay – ASD, poor speech and language, not potty trained  

• Bereavement  

• Being a lone parent  

• Physical needs of parent and/or child requiring frequent visit and stays in hospital  

One of the family had an Early Help Assessment in place and the co-ordinator attended 

regular Team around the Family meetings to feedback the focus of support that the 

volunteer was providing for the family.  

The role of the volunteer when working with the families has been:  

• Modelling play and engaging with different aged children, taking and suggesting activities  

• Providing constructive play activities to improve motor skills and coordination  

• Providing positive reassurance and feedback to parents and modelling positive praise  

• Supporting new routines including eating, sleep, new baby  

• Support with potty / toilet training  

• Sensory stimulation to widen view of world  

• Support around children’s eating  

• Supporting families to access other services outside of the home including preschool, 

parent and toddler groups, Tumble Tots, library  

• Supporting parents to better understand the link between play and learning  

• Supporting parent to attend appointments out of the home.  

• Supporting family to feel more confident to engage with more specialist services like 

speech and language therapy and to implement suggested strategies at home.  

• Supporting families to access local parks  

Page 89



 

33 
 

• Support to implement behaviour management strategies both at home and outside of the 

home  

• Supporting child to become more self-aware  

• Encouraging development of communication language and literacy skills through modelling 

reading, singing and talking with children.  

Outcomes for families include:  

• Parents more confident to engage with their children in play and select appropriate 

activities.  

• Parent’s improved self-esteem and confidence, feeling happier in self and more resilient, 

impacting positively on ability to manage other relationships within the family.  

• Parents reporting feeling more able to cope with more energy  

• Parents reporting an improved understanding of the importance of playing with their 

children and feeling happier about being ‘mum’.  

• Children displaying improved speech and language skills both at home and in preschool 

settings.  

• Children displaying less challenging behaviour as more able to communicate needs. This 

has impacted positively on parent/child relationships.  

• Children potty trained.  

• Improvements in parent’s mental health has resulted in better ability to access other 

specialist services where input is required, so children are receiving additional support in a 

more timely way.  

• Children are more self-confident and able to move away from parents including when 

joining preschool settings  

• Children feel more secure and settled with improved boundaries and routines in place  

• Parents are able to better manage children’s behaviour which impacts positively on their 

confidence in taking children out  

• Parents have a better understanding of the importance of reading, singing and talking to 

children which improves children’s language development  

We continue to liaise with other professionals involved with the families we are providing 

support to, including referrers, Children Centres and other more specialist services.  

Sarah Mascall 

Scheme Manager  

Home-Start Royston & South Cambridgeshire 5  

Case Study – 046/18  

Family referred by pre-school manager and health visitor because mum’s mental health was 

impacting on child development. Child 1 was nearly 4 and still in nappies and Child 2 was 

keeping mum awake due to breast feeding. The family plan was to:  

Page 90



 

34 
 

• Support and assist with children by being an extra pair and hands and specifically to give 

mum some 1:1 time with eldest child.  

• Supporting mum with toilet training  

• Supporting child with phonics  

The volunteer researched what school would need for child to enter and as a result worked 

not on only on toilet training but on bedtime and meal time routines for eating at table without 

adult support. The child didn’t respond to working with phonics, so we adapted to work with 

the child on interactive play such as Lego and outdoor games.  

Outcomes:  

• Toilet trained  

• Can play independently  

• Pre-school feedback that he is happier and settled  

• We continue to support mum to work on meal time routines.  

10. Farmland Museum 

The Farmland Museum at Denny Abbey  

Report to South Cambridgeshire District Council, April 2018 – March 2019 

The accounts for the year 2018 (the Farmland Museum’s accounting year) are in the 

process of being finalised and will be forwarded when they have been approved by the 

Auditors, Stafford and Co. Our Financial year closed with a very small surplus of income 

over expenditure.  

The need for other income generation activity apart from that from ticket sales and 

secondary spend from visitors has been high on our priority list for some time but attempts to 

achieve this have never been as good as they might have been.   A trustee attended a 

SHARE museums East course at the end of  2017 on making more use of museums to 

generate income through activities such a hiring of rooms for meetings or social events and 

resulting from that a small  grant was obtained  to help to make the site  more marketable.  

However, staff and volunteer time and expertise were not adequate to enable much progress 

to be made in 2018. Funding from the Litchfield Trust was received in 2018 through 

Cambridgeshire Community foundation to look at our marketing and publicity and produce a 

marketing strategy to include a more diverse use of the site.  The work for this was done 

during the summer in 2018 by Kelly Cole from Phillips Consulting and a report was produced 

in early November with some useful observations and recommendations. 

Trustees 

During the year 2018/9 the board of Trustees appointed three new Trustees.  Steve Archer 

is a retired NHS manager, and is also a very active and enthusiastic volunteer, Mike Peirson 

works at the IWM at Duxford and Dr Fiona MacMillan works for the Royal Society of 

Chemistry.  All have brought some extremely valuable skills; a bonus is that two live very 

locally.  Dorothy Betts, A retired head teacher, resigned after over ten years as the Trustee 

with Education experience and Nicholas Cliffe, an accountant also resigned.   We continue 

to look for new trustees with suitable skills, time, experience and enthusiasm.  

Page 91



 

35 
 

After the elections in May 2018 Cllr Peter Johnson was replaced by Cllr Anna Bradnam as 

the South Cambridgeshire District Council representative on the board of Trustees. 

Staffing  

2018 was the last year for which English Heritage funded two Front of House seasonal staff, 

working in the shop to greet visitors, and sell tickets, guidebooks and other items. This, we 

knew, would have a significant impact on the way in which the Farmland Museum operates. 

English Heritage also proposed to reduce other funding. Some preparatory work was done 

during the winter of 2017/18 to make the working conditions such that the person doing front 

of house duty could also work at other things in quieter times such as on weekdays in term 

time. The counter was extended to create a workstation space and the Wi fi signal from the 

main office was improved.  During the summer of 2018 the Visitor Services assistants were 

able to help with preparations for event days, updating the collections database and other 

administrative tasks.  

Following the Marketing consultant’s report, the proposed cuts in funding from English 

Heritage, suggestions from an earlier management report and thoughts about our staffing 

structure which had been under consideration for some time, it was agreed to redefine the 

staffing roles for 2019. 

It was decided that the existing permanent posts of Museum Manager and Assistant Curator 

should be replaced by a Museum Officer and Commercial Officer who would be of equal 

status and be directly responsible to the trustees. The Museum Officer would be responsible 

for ensuring that the Museum conforms to Accreditation standards, collections care and 

display, and education and outreach. The Commercial Officer would take on responsibility 

for finance and maximising income generation, site maintenance, marketing and publicity 

(both of these in collaboration with the Museum Officer). Both posts would be paid on an 

annualised salary with more hours worked in the open season than in the closed season. 

For the season there would also be one seasonal Front of House Officer to work Friday – 

Sunday and other days as required. The Café staffing structure would remain unchanged. 

A redundancy process was initiated in September 2018 with advice and support from a 

Personnel Adviser. Neither of the existing permanent members of staff wanted to apply for 

the new posts. The Assistant Curator, who had been looking for employment nearer home 

for some time, obtained a full time post before she was formally made redundant and the 

Museum Manager accepted redundancy and found new employment before she left. The 

new posts were advertised in November and interviews held in early December. Helen 

O’Hara, an archaeologist, former museum curator and primary teacher, was appointed as 

Museum Officer.  Her last job was as the Senior Community Archaeologist for the A14 

Archaeology project. Sarah Michael was appointed as Commercial Officer. She had no 

background in museum or heritage work and but had sound business experience and was 

very quick to see the potential of the site despite seeing it for the first time on a cold day in 

December when everything was shut down, dusty and wrapped up.  Both started in early 

January and there was a short handover period before Ann Wise left.  Both were aware of 

the enormous challenges and the demands of roles and rose magnificently to them. 

Volunteers 

The Farmland Museum could not survive without the dedication of our volunteers. As 

funding cuts bite deeper their contribution becomes ever more important. In 2018 /9 our 

volunteers ranged in age from about 20 to late 70’s. Some are retired, some recovering from 

illness or injury or unable to undertake paid work for some other reason and some are 

Page 92



 

36 
 

looking for work experience.  We are always sorry to lose volunteers who leave to go to paid 

employment although delighted for them that they are able to move on.  A Work Day in 

March saw several whole families helping to get the site ready with the children helping.  

The Wednesday team of about ten people carry out regular maintenance tasks, cleaning, 

restoration of machinery and help with collections work. Socialising over coffee and the 

lunch break play an important role in the day.  There is also a small team who look after the 

gardens and a team from Headway managed the allotment.  A number of others come in 

less frequently to do particular jobs such as planning and running children’s activities and 

helping with school visits or outreach visits. 

More volunteers are always needed, in particular for front of house, cleaning, stewarding at 

event days, or when groups are visiting, and for activities on event days  

At a very conservative estimate there are over 2000 hours of voluntary time donated to the 

museum in the year, worth at least  £16000 a year  if costed  at minimum wage (which does 

not reflect the value of the expertise that some of our volunteers are  providing).  

Not only does volunteering provide essential help to the Farmland Museum but it plays an 

important part in providing a welcoming and enjoyable place to come to. It offers a sense of 

belonging, purpose and achievement and a great deal of fun.     

Business, Forward and Master Planning 

Trustees created a draft Business Plan for 2019 in preparation for the arrival of the new staff 

who were then able to finalise it when they arrived.  

Development of a Forward and Masterplan have remained high on the Trustees agenda and 

there has have been many discussions. Because of the time taken with personnel issues 

during the autumn, the induction of the new staff and preparation of the site for the spring 

opening which involved many hours of work by staff, volunteers and some Trustees, 

progress has been slow in finalizing ideas and  committing text to paper. Steve Archer 

attended a Forward Planning training session with Helen O’Hara at the Museum of London 

in February. A key action for the 2019/20 year is to create a robust document spelling out 

our vision for the next 20 – 30 years and aclear plans for the next 3-5 years. The new staff 

will be able to make a much more informed input now that they have settled in.  

The 2018 Season (April 2nd to end of October) 

After a good year in 2017, visitor numbers were very disappointing in 2018. Year on year 

numbers have always fluctuated and the 2018 number were undoubtedly affected by the 

heat wave and drought in the early summer and to some very wet weather on several other 

event days.  The Museum was closed on Mondays (apart from Bank Holidays) for the first 

time in 2018 but this was at least in part compensated for by opening for an extra hour on 

the other weekdays.   

Numbers visiting the site in 2018, 2017 and 2016 

 2016 2017 2018 

April 865 1399 1231 

May 1401 1270 1225 

June 881 1021 774 

Page 93



 

37 
 

July 1392 1432 1024 

August 1878 2119 1713 

September 910 1025 811 

October 1059 1204 865 

Total 8386 9470 7643 

 

There were a number of special event days, mostly on Bank Holidays. These included a 

simple Easter Monday family day with simple craft activities, a May Bank Holiday event to 

with maypole and Molly dancing, craft stalls and  a folk singer (Mike Ruff), a 1940’s  

weekend for the late May Bank holiday, a Medieval weekend for the August Bank Holiday 

and a Pumpkins and Spooks event on the last Sunday of the Autumn half term. Throughout 

school holidays there were Family Activity afternoons for children and their parents/ carers 

on Wednesday and Thursdays. The first Thursday of the school Summer holidays was the 

traditional Archaeology weekend which coincided with the peak of a very hot spell and for 

which attendance was disappointing compared with the previous year. 

An ecumenical Dawn Service was broadcast live by BBC Radio Cambridgeshire on Easter 

Sunday morning in the grounds of the Abbey and a service organised by the local Society of 

St Francis to celebrate St Clare’s day (St Clare was the founder of the order of the Poor 

Clares who were the last religious order to occupy Denny Abbey).   

A highlight of 2018 was a visit by HRH the Princess Royal in April which was much enjoyed 

by everyone who came. HRH spoke to about 70 people including Mike and Lorna Delanoy, 

the Museum’s founders, and representatives from English Heritage, South Cambridgeshire 

District Council, other stakeholders, Friends, donors and volunteers. It was a lovely 

afternoon which was enjoyed greatly and well worth the hard work involved in preparing for 

the event. 

School and group visits  

There were a few school visits. This market has reduced considerably in recent years due in 

part to changes in the national curriculum, the very heavy cost of coach fares and other 

pressures. The Museum no longer has a dedicated Education Officer as the post was not 

cost effective. However, a schools’ programme was still advertised and there were visits 

from or to a number of schools and preschools during the year. This included the whole of 

Year 6 from Burwell Primary, Waterbeach Primary School Year 3, Romsey Mill pre-school, a 

group from Hemingford Rd nursery, Kings Ely Junior School and an Academic Summer 

Primary group.   

Several   local history or other community groups came for guided tours which were much 

enjoyed in all cases. 

Outreach 

Our outreach work can serve a number of purposes. For people who are unable to visit 

because of disability or lack of suitable transport it provides an opportunity to learn more 

about how people lived and worked in this area and about the fascinating story of Denny 

Abbey. For older people it is an opportunity to reminisce, which they enjoy, and which can be 

particularly valuable for people suffering from dementia. The reminiscences can also   

Page 94



 

38 
 

valuable to us, as the people we speak to give us new insights into the story we tell and the 

things we take to show. Some local groups prefer to arrange a speaker to visit them rather 

than organise a trip to the Museum and Abbey.  

The Farmland Museum was also represented at the Ely Harvest festival, at the Haddenham 

Steam Fair, at Shuttleworth Museum in Hertfordshire and at Waterbeach Feast. These 

events have a twofold purpose. One is to promote the Museum and Abbey, many people 

have never visited despite driving past regularly and others are not even aware of our 

existence. The other purpose is to talk to people who remember the rural and agricultural life 

which is described by the Farmland Museum. This  can be a be a real joy as they tell about 

what their life was like and help bring to life the story we tell. 

Whilst attempts are made to count all the people we actively engage with at these events it 

is hard to be accurate but an estimated 1000+ people are encountered each year through 

this outreach work, most of which is done by volunteers. 

January – March 2019 Preparation for the 2019 season 

For the past few years the Museum has taken part in the University Museums’ Twilight at the 

Museums (a free event) during the February half term. However, the Museum did not 

participate in February 2019 largely because of safety concerns over having the Museum 

open in the dark with a badly lit and often muddy and slippery car park. 

January 2019 saw the beginning of a period of intense activity as the new staff settled in and 

the site was prepared for the opening of the 2019 season on April 2nd. The Museum and 

Commercial Officers finalised the Business Plan which the Trustees had drafted in 

preparation for 2019. The Museum Officer familiarised herself with the needs of the 

Collection and the difficulties caused by the far from ideal storage and display facilities. The 

Commercial Officer with the Treasurer sourced a new till system for the shop. This  is easy 

to use and analyses sales figures very quickly. Paid for advertising was substantially 

reduced and the use of free social media increased with posts going on to local village 

Facebook pages, and Twitter.   A new publicity leaflet was produced with a smaller print run 

than previously.  It has no dated information and so can be used for more than just one year, 

saving both time in preparation and printing costs. Postal distribution has been greatly 

reduced. We thank South Cambridgeshire District Council for the coverage in their 

magazine. 

Everyone worked with enormous enthusiasm and dedication. Volunteers took on 

refurbishment of the café as a special project and it was transformed with an extended 

counter, redecoration and new curtains. The café and shop now share a new coffee machine 

which provides freshly ground coffee at the press of a button.  Emmaus donated a small pine 

dresser for the café and Tesco a shopping trolley to transport the coffee machine between 

the café and shop. The large mural on the Grain Store was taken down and repainted with 

many volunteers and trustees lending a hand. The sense of a team working together with a 

common purpose was strong and exciting. 

Thanks to Cllr Bradnam, who had put the Commercial Officer in touch with a contact at 

Tesco, we were able to have a stand outside the Milton store on two days to promote the 

Museum and recruit new volunteers. Both days generated a lot of interest both from people 

who knew us and those who had never heard of us. We were able to recruit an excellent 

gardener and someone to help clean Denny Abbey and the Cottage on a regular basis and 

promoted the museum to several hundred people.  

Page 95



 

39 
 

Towards the end of March volunteers, staff and trustees spent a Saturday preparing the site 

for opening. It was a beautiful spring day, and everyone worked very hard. Several whole 

families came to help, and the children enjoyed helping to sort out the Play Shed and the 

toys and jigsaws in the Education room and then played very happily for the rest of the day.  

Little progress was made on marketing the site for hire during this period but this became a 

priority for the Commercial Officer once the season was under way and will be reported on in 

the six month half year report for the first half of 2019-20.   

The Museum successfully opened to the public on Tuesday April 2nd. Due to strong winds 

the large mural could not be re-installed until after the museum opened and the school 

holidays had finished but was back in place by the end of April with the help of an 

augmented team of volunteers.  

The new Local Management Agreement with English Heritage is still in the process of being 

finalised. From April 2019 English Heritage visitors are able to visit the whole site. Previously 

if they if they wanted to see the Farmland Museum they had to pay an admission fee.  EH 

will provide a contribution to cover the lost income. All non EH members now pay for a ticket 

which will enable them to visit as often as they wish for a year, with the exception of up to 

five paid for events (in practice likely to be two). UK taxpayers are encouraged to complete a 

Gift Aid declaration which means that 25% of Gift Aid can be claimed on the sale of their 

tickets.  This replaces the season tickets which were available in past years. It saves on 

administration time and modelling has shown it is a more cost effective way of getting the 

benefits of Gift Aid than other options, provided that eligible visitors are actively encouraged 

to complete the Gift Aid declaration. Reception staff will have a script which emphasises this 

aspect.  

An application to the HLF for funding for a Community Engagement officer early in 2018 was 

unsuccessful. We were encouraged to reapply as the application was felt to be strong. The 

application was for funding for a three year post for someone to engage with two groups. 

Firstly, people who do not in general visit museums (postcode data identify that there are 

few visitors from areas of higher social deprivation). Secondly, to engage with the many new 

residents moving into the District and other local areas who will have little knowledge or 

understanding of how land was used or what life was like in rural Cambridgeshire until the 

rapid changes in technology from the mid 20-th century and the enormous amount of 

development in the 21st century   often on land with an agricultural history. The Farmland 

Museum and Denny Abbey can give people an understanding and sense of belonging to the 

place where they are now living through the stories they tell.  In the event, because of the 

impending changes in staff structure a new application was not made in 2018 but now the 

new staff are more established it is part of the business plan for 2019.  

We remain indebted to South Cambridgeshire District Council for the grant funding we 

receive. The Farmland Museum and Denny Abbey are a special and unique heritage and 

recreational resource for residents of the District as well as further afield.  It is very clear 

when talking to visitors that they really enjoy coming and it is very rare to get a negative 

comment. They appreciate the serenity of the site, the safe and secure play space for 

children, many of whom put high on the list of places they want to go back to. People enjoy 

learning about the story told by the Museum and Denny Abbey. For older people it is an 

opportunity to remember a past life which they really enjoy telling us about. Whilst increasing 

the footfall and generating income in other ways remain a priority, the apparent isolation and 

sense of peace and continuity which can really contribute to a sense of wellbeing are, and 

should remain as, one of site’s unique attributes. 

Page 96



Appendix 3 

Community Chest Grants 2018 - 19 
 

June 

Applicant Description Amount (£) 

Waterbeach and Landbeach 
Action for Youth 

Purchase of music equipment and games 
console 

1,000.00 
 

A.M. Challis Purchase a scratter, press and sterilising unit 
to hold own apple pressing day 

885.00 

Swavesey Badminton Club Purchase of junior squash rackets and 
shuttlecocks 

529.00 

1st Hardwick and Highfields 
Caldecote Scouts 

Purchase of a kayak trailer 1,000.00 

Gamlingay Parish Council Picnic Table for the off road bike track 

 

497.40 

Hardwick Play Parks Group Purchase of  a climbing wall for the 
playground 

1,000.00 

Litlington Congregational 
Church 

Replacement of the church sound system 1,000.00 

Mother Goose Pre-school Purchase of a storage shed 1,000.00 

Fulbourn Primary School PTA Fulbourn 1,000.00 

Bassingbourn Cricket Club Purchase of a roller for the cricket square 1,000.00 

Cambridge Open Art 
Exhibition 

Purchase of replacement exhibition stands 1,000.00 

Swavesey Community Choir Purchase of music books 414.00 

Lolworth Parish Meeting Resurface of the footpath to All Saints Church 1,000.00 

Page 97



Appendix 3 

Bassingbourn Air Cadets Purchase of drums for the marching band 892.36 

Linton Village Cricket Club Purchase of an auto rotorake for the cricket 
wicket 

1,000.00 

Friends of Saint Mary’s 
Church Comberton Trust 

Restoration and repair works to prevent water 
ingress 

1,000.00 

Sawston Youth Group Purchase of musical equipment including, 4 
bugles with retaining chain and case and 10 

Bell Lyre Cord Kits 

870.00 

Milton Cricket Club Coaching training to enable launch of a youth 
section through liaison with local schools 

1,000.00 

Oakington & Westwick Parish 
Council 

Installation of 22 flower planters in the village 500.00 

Linton United Reformed 
Church 

Lowering of the step from the pavement to 
make premises wheelchair accessible 

1,000.00 

Duxford Pre-school Refurbishment of storage shed 1,000.00 

Abington Allotment & Leisure 
Gardeners Association 

Purchase of a secure steel storage shed 500.00 

Duxford Bowls Club Replacement of uneven & dangerous paving 250.00 

Whittlesford Parish Council Purchase of litter bins 500.00 

Gamlingay with Hatley 
St.George & East Hatley 
Parochial Church Council 

Repair and redecoration of the north wall of 
the church 

750.00 

Madingley Parochial Church 
Council 

Protection of 16th century stained glass panel 1,000.00 

Bottisham Swimming Club Purchase of hand paddles, kick boards & pull 
buoys 

1,000.00 

Barton Parish Council Fencing for play area 500.00 

Magpas Air Ambulance Purchase seven ‘Resus dummies’ for CPR 
training 

1,000.00 

Gamlingay School’s Out Club Start-up costs for club £750.00 

Page 98



Appendix 3 

Cottenham United Colts FC Purchase portable football posts 1,000.00 

Fulbourn Parish Council Purchase and install hexagonal tree seat 450.00 

Horseheath Cricket Club Refurb of toilets and showers. Work to be 
done by member 

1,000.00 

Melbourn Amateur Dramatics 
Society 

Purchase new wireless microphones 998.00 

Melbourn Community Hub 
Management Group 

Replacement of old non-stackable chairs 954.00 

Meldreth Pre-School Financial support for premises move incl table 
purchases 

270.00 

Gallery Writers Purchase of a website package so community 
can access media relating to river Mel 

800.00 

Community Sparx CIC Purchase of a licence/service agreement 1,000.00 

Meldreth Bowls Club Purchase a new mower 1,000.00 

Melbourn Parish Council Replacement of the hardstanding surrounding 
the war memorial 

500.00 

Ladybird Playgroup Purchase of a giant slide, wall-mounted 
chalkboard set & Tike Town playhouse 

560.00 

July 

The Ickleton Society Printing costs for circa 300 books about 
Ickleton’s contribution to The Great War 

1,000.00 

November 

Papworth Everard Allotment 
Association 

Purchase a ride on mower 1,000.00 

Grinnel Hill BMX Club Materials for site improvement 974.95 

Friends of Histon & Impington 
Rec  

Purchase a triobike for H&I and surrounding 
villages  

1,000.00 

Active New Communities Marketing, hall and coaching costs for taster 
sport sessions 

1,000.00 

City of Cambs Brass Band 
Youth Academy & Training 

Band 

Production of CD recording 1,000.00 

Page 99



Appendix 3 

Melbourn Bowls Club Replacement pushers 725.00 

Toft Historical Society  Erect memorial for WW1, confirming status as 
a Thankful Village 

300.00 

Milton Colts Under 10 Navy Purchase of a portable shelter 212.99 

1st Papworth Scout Group Purchase camping equipment 1,000.00 

December 

The Countryside Restoration 
Trust 

Purchase of pitchforks, hay rakes and 
scythes to manage hay meadows 

600.00 

Disability Cambridgeshire Upgrade IT 1,000.00 

Linton Action for Youth Roof repairs 460.00 

Northstowe Sports and 
Wellbeing Group 

Community development – fitness and 
wellbeing 

528.00 

January 

Quy Village Association Upgrade toilets which are 25 years old 500.00 

1st Whittlesford and Duxford 
Scout Group 

Extension of mobile caving system 1,000.00 

February  

Cambourne United Football 
Club 

Provide new equipment for FA’s new ‘Just 
Play’ project 

954.76 

1st Over St Mary’s Scout 
Group 

Purchase of new tents for camping events 1,000.00 

Willingham Action Group Purchase and install bird boxes 354.19 

Heathfield Area Recreation 
Trust 

Purchase a marquee to support a new youth 
club 

1,000.00 

Cambridge Past, Present and 
Future 

Purchase materials for outdoor education 
program 

995.50 

March  

Footprints Café Ltd Sound proof panels to enhance acoustics in 
training room and cafe 

1,000.00 

Page 100



Appendix 3 

Histon and Impington 
Communications Community 

Interest Company 

Develop and create a new online “hub” for 
news in Histon and Impington 

1,000.00 

Ladybird Preschool Purchase of play train and carriage outdoor 
play equipment 

1,000.00 

Wilbraham Memorial Hall  Replace decaying timber play equipment with 
steel alternatives 

1,000.00 

Sundial Theatre Company  Purchase first year’s insurance 104.16 

Madingley Parish Council  Replacement of Parish noticeboard  601.59 

Shelford and Stapelford 
Youth Initiative  

Repairs and improvement to Great Shelford 
Social Club  

944.94 

 

Page 101



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 4 

Community Energy Grants 2018 - 19 
 

June 

Applicant Description Amount (£) 

Milton Community Centre 
To provide loft insulation above suspended 

ceiling 
1,424.40 

Fowlmere Recreation Ground 
& Village Hall 

Upgrading/converting outside lighting around 
the village hall and exit road 

1,380.00 

Cambridge Sea and Royal 
Marines Cadets 

Energy saving roof insulation and panel 
lighting to replace fluorescent tubes 

2,650.00 

Little Gransden Village Hall   
Replace windows for A-rated, uPVC, argon 

filled alternatives 
3,000.00 

Fen Drayton Village Hall 
Replace all internal lighting with energy 

efficient alternatives  
2,482.00 

Meldreth Bowls Club 
Change existing lighting in the entire 

clubhouse to LEDs.  
2,400.00 

July 

Hatley Parish Council  
Replace one pair of French Doors (with A-

rated uPVC) and side-door (with black 
composite rebate) at village hall 

2,435.00 

Foxton Village Hall 
Major lighting upgrade to foyer, meeting 

room, lounge and pavilion to LEDs 
3,000.00 

 

Page 103



This page is left blank intentionally.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Review of the Mobile Warden Scheme - Lesley McFarlane
	MWS Appendix 1
	MWS Appendix 2
	MWS Appendix C
	MWS Appendix D

	5 Community Chest: Funding Applications
	Community Chest Grant Report 270919 EB - Appendix A - Applications Summary
	Community Chest Grant Report 270919 EB - Appendix B - Guidance

	6 Grants Report for 2018/19
	Grants Report for 2018.19 270919 - Appendix 1 Officer Highlights Report
	Grants Report for 2018.19 270919 - Appendix 2 Individual Reports RC
	Grants Report for 2018.19 270919 - Appendix 3 Community Chest Grants RC
	Grants Report for 2018.19 270919 - Appendix 4 Community Energy Grants RC


